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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Financial Statements
 
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets 
($ in millions) (unaudited)

 
August 1, 2015 January 31, 2015 August 2, 2014

Assets    
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,800 $ 2,432 $ 2,141
Short-term investments 1,695 1,456 939
Receivables, net 1,025 1,280 1,005
Merchandise inventories 4,995 5,174 5,583
Other current assets 730 703 943
Current assets held for sale — 684 —

Total current assets 10,245 11,729 10,611
Property and equipment, net 2,235 2,295 2,532
Goodwill 425 425 425
Intangibles, net 18 57 100
Other assets 610 583 681
Non-current assets held for sale 33 167 —
Total assets $ 13,566 $ 15,256 $ 14,349

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities      

Accounts payable $ 4,680 $ 5,030 $ 5,244
Unredeemed gift card liabilities 371 411 371
Deferred revenue 316 326 442
Accrued compensation and related expenses 285 372 287
Accrued liabilities 778 782 796
Accrued income taxes 26 230 68
Current portion of long-term debt 382 41 43
Current liabilities held for sale — 585 —

Total current liabilities 6,838 7,777 7,251
Long-term liabilities 879 881 976
Long-term debt 1,227 1,580 1,592
Long-term liabilities held for sale — 18 —
Equity      

Best Buy Co., Inc. shareholders’ equity      
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value: Authorized — 400,000 shares; Issued and

outstanding — none — — —
Common stock, $0.10 par value: Authorized — 1.0 billion shares; Issued

and outstanding — 344,258,000, 351,468,000 and 349,548,000 shares,
respectively 34 35 35

Additional paid-in capital 198 437 348
Retained earnings 4,092 4,141 3,649
Accumulated other comprehensive income 298 382 494

Total Best Buy Co., Inc. shareholders’ equity 4,622 4,995 4,526
Noncontrolling interests — 5 4

Total equity 4,622 5,000 4,530
Total liabilities and equity $ 13,566 $ 15,256 $ 14,349

 

NOTE:  The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of January 31, 2015, has been condensed from the audited consolidated financial statements.
 

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings
($ in millions, except per share amounts) (unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Revenue $ 8,528 $ 8,459 $ 17,086 $ 17,098
Cost of goods sold 6,433 6,481 12,953 13,153
Restructuring charges – cost of goods sold (3) — 5 —
Gross profit 2,098 1,978 4,128 3,945
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,811 1,748 3,577 3,503
Restructuring charges (1) 5 177 7
Operating income 288 225 374 435
Other income (expense)

   

Gain on sale of investments — 2 2 2
Investment income and other 4 6 11 10
Interest expense (20) (23) (40) (46)

Earnings from continuing operations before income tax
(benefit) expense 272 210 347 401

Income tax (benefit) expense 108 73 146 (205)
Net earnings from continuing operations 164 137 201 606
Gain from discontinued operations (Note 2), net of tax

benefit (expense) of $-, $(7), $3 and $(4) — 10 92 2
Net earnings including noncontrolling interests 164 147 293 608

Net earnings from discontinued operations
attributable to noncontrolling interests — (1) — (1)

Net earnings attributable to Best Buy Co., Inc.
shareholders $ 164 $ 146 $ 293 $ 607

Basic earnings per share attributable to Best Buy Co.,
Inc. shareholders

   

Continuing operations $ 0.47 $ 0.39 $ 0.57 $ 1.74
Discontinued operations — 0.03 0.26 —
Basic earnings per share $ 0.47 $ 0.42 $ 0.83 $ 1.74

Diluted earnings per share attributable to Best Buy Co.,
Inc. shareholders
Continuing operations $ 0.46 $ 0.39 $ 0.57 $ 1.73
Discontinued operations — 0.03 0.25 —
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.46 $ 0.42 $ 0.82 $ 1.73

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.23 $ 0.17 $ 0.97 $ 0.34

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (in
millions)

   

Basic 349.6 349.3 351.0 348.4
Diluted 353.9 352.2 355.8 351.6

 
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
($ in millions) (unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Net earnings including noncontrolling interests $ 164 $ 147 $ 293 $ 608
Foreign currency translation adjustments (32) — (17) 3
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale investments — — — (1)
Reclassification of foreign currency translation

adjustments into earnings due to sale of business — — (67) —
Comprehensive income including noncontrolling

interests 132 147 209 610
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling

interests — (1) — (1)
Comprehensive income attributable to Best Buy Co.,

Inc. shareholders $ 132 $ 146 $ 209 $ 609

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Change in Shareholders' Equity 
($ and shares in millions) (unaudited)

  Best Buy Co., Inc.    

 
Common

Shares
Common

Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total 
Best Buy
Co., Inc.

Non-
controlling
Interests Total

Balances at January 31, 2015 352 $ 35 $ 437 $ 4,141 $ 382 $ 4,995 $ 5 $ 5,000
Net earnings, six months ended August 1,
2015 — — — 293 — 293 — 293

Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — (17) (17) — (17)
Reclassification of foreign currency
translation adjustments into earnings — — — — (67) (67) — (67)

Sale of noncontrolling interest — — — — — — (5) (5)
Stock-based compensation — — 55 — — 55 — 55
Restricted stock vested and stock options
exercised 1 — 24 — — 24 — 24

Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan — — 4 — — 4 — 4

Tax benefit from stock options exercised,
restricted stock vesting and employee stock
purchase plan — — 1 — — 1 — 1

Common stock dividends, $0.97 per share — — — (342) — (342) — (342)
Repurchase of common stock (9) (1) (323) — — (324) — (324)
Balances at August 1, 2015 344 $ 34 $ 198 $ 4,092 $ 298 $ 4,622 $ — $ 4,622

Balances at February 1, 2014 347 $ 35 $ 300 $ 3,159 $ 492 $ 3,986 $ 3 $ 3,989
Net earnings, six months ended August 2,
2014 — — — 607 — 607 1 608

Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — 3 3 — 3
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale
investments — — — — (1) (1) — (1)

Stock-based compensation — — 41 — — 41 — 41
Restricted stock vested and stock options
exercised 2 — 13 — — 13 — 13

Issuance of common stock under employee
stock purchase plan — — 4 — — 4 — 4

Tax deficit from stock options exercised,
restricted stock vesting and employee stock
purchase plan — — (10) — — (10) — (10)

Common stock dividends, $0.34 per share — — — (117) — (117) — (117)
Balances at August 2, 2014 349 $ 35 $ 348 $ 3,649 $ 494 $ 4,526 $ 4 $ 4,530

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
($ in millions) (unaudited)

  Six Months Ended

  August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Operating activities
Net earnings including noncontrolling interests $ 293 $ 608
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to total cash provided by (used in) operating

activities:
Depreciation 326 319
Restructuring charges 182 8
Gain on sale of business, net (99) (1)
Stock-based compensation 55 40
Deferred income taxes (41) (394)
Other, net 10 8
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Receivables 268 301
Merchandise inventories 168 (205)
Other assets (9) 17
Accounts payable (335) 120
Other liabilities (284) (270)
Income taxes (226) (64)

Total cash provided by operating activities 308 487

Investing activities    
Additions to property and equipment (293) (258)
Purchases of investments (1,303) (1,194)
Sales of investments 1,064 479
Proceeds from sale of business, net of cash transferred upon sale 92 37
Change in restricted assets (46) 26
Settlement of net investment hedges 8 —
Other, net — 3

Total cash used in investing activities (478) (907)

Financing activities    
Repurchase of common stock (321) —
Repayments of debt (13) (12)
Dividends paid (341) (118)
Issuance of common stock 28 17
Other, net 7 (1)

Total cash used in financing activities (640) (114)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (16) (3)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (826) (537)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period, excluding held for sale 2,432 2,678
Cash and cash equivalents held for sale at beginning of period 194 —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,800 $ 2,141

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation
 
Unless the context otherwise requires, the use of the terms “Best Buy,” “we,” “us,” and “our” in these Notes to Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements refers to Best Buy Co., Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
 
In the opinion of management, the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments 
necessary for a fair presentation as prescribed by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). All 
adjustments were comprised of normal recurring adjustments, except as noted in these Notes to Condensed Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Historically, we have generated a higher proportion of our revenue and earnings in the fiscal fourth quarter, which includes the 
majority of the holiday shopping season in the U.S., Canada and Mexico. Due to the seasonal nature of our business, interim 
results are not necessarily indicative of results for the entire fiscal year. The interim financial statements and the related notes in 
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes 
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015. The first six months of fiscal 2016 and 
fiscal 2015 included 26 weeks. 

In order to align our fiscal reporting periods and comply with statutory filing requirements, we consolidate the financial results 
of our Mexico operations on a one-month lag. Our policy is to accelerate recording the effect of events occurring in the lag 
period that significantly affect our consolidated financial statements. No such events were identified for this period.

In preparing the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements, we evaluated the period from August 2, 2015, 
through the date the financial statements were issued, for material subsequent events requiring recognition or disclosure. No 
such events were identified for this period.

2. Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations are primarily comprised of Jiangsu Five Star Appliance Co., Limited ("Five Star") within our 
International segment. Following the sale of Five Star in February 2015, we continue to hold one retail property in Shanghai, 
China, which remains held for sale at August 1, 2015, as we continue to actively market the property. The presentation of 
discontinued operations has been retrospectively applied to all prior periods presented. 

The composition of assets and liabilities disposed of as a result of the sale of Five Star was as follows ($ in millions):

February 13, 2015

Cash and cash equivalents $ 125
Receivables 113
Merchandise inventories 252
All other assets 461

Total assets $ 951

Accounts payable $ 478
All other liabilities 128

Total liabilities $ 606



Table of Contents

9

The aggregate financial results of discontinued operations were as follows ($ in millions):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Revenue(1) $ 5 $ 437 $ 217 $ 834

Restructuring charges — — — 1

Gain (loss) from discontinued operations before
income tax benefit — 15 (10) 4

Income tax benefit (expense) — (7) 3 (4)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations — 2 99 2
Net gain from discontinued operations, including

noncontrolling interests — 10 92 2
Net earnings from discontinued operations attributable

to noncontrolling interests — (1) — (1)
Net gain from discontinued operations attributable to

Best Buy Co., Inc. shareholders $ — $ 9 $ 92 $ 1

(1) The $5 million of revenue for the three months ended August 1, 2015, represents the final sales associated with our China retail business.

3. Fair Value Measurements
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. To 
measure fair value, we use a three-tier valuation hierarchy based upon observable and non-observable inputs:
 

Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for the identical assets or liabilities at the measurement 
date.
 
Level 2 — Significant other observable inputs available at the measurement date, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, 
either directly or indirectly, including:

 
• Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
• Quoted prices for identical or similar assets in non-active markets;
• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and
• Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by other observable market data.

 
Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data and reflect the use of 
significant management judgment. These values are generally determined using pricing models for which the assumptions 
utilize management’s estimates of market participant assumptions.
 
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
 
The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. In instances where the inputs used to 
measure fair value fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement has been determined based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Our assessment of the significance of a 
particular item to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, including the consideration of inputs specific to 
the asset or liability. 
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The following tables set forth by level within the fair value hierarchy, our financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for 
at fair value on a recurring basis at August 1, 2015, January 31, 2015, and August 2, 2014, according to the valuation techniques 
we used to determine their fair values ($ in millions).

   

Fair Value Measurements
Using Inputs Considered as

 

Fair Value at
August 1, 2015

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

ASSETS
       

Cash and cash equivalents
       

Money market funds $ 21 $ 21 $ — $ —
Commercial paper 65 — 65 —

Short-term investments        
Corporate bonds 402 — 402 —
Commercial paper 240 — 240 —

Other current assets
Foreign currency derivative instruments 21 — 21 —

Other assets        
Interest rate swap derivative instruments 13 — 13 —
Auction rate securities 2 — — 2
Marketable securities that fund deferred compensation 98 98 — —

   

Fair Value Measurements
Using Inputs Considered as

 

Fair Value at
January 31, 2015

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

ASSETS
       

Cash and cash equivalents
       

Money market funds $ 265 $ 265 $ — $ —
Corporate bonds 13 — 13 —
Commercial paper 165 — 165 —

Short-term investments
       

Corporate bonds 276 — 276 —
Commercial paper 306 — 306 —

Other current assets
       

Foreign currency derivative instruments 30 — 30 —
Other assets

       

Interest rate swap derivative instruments 1 — 1 —
Auction rate securities 2 — — 2
Marketable securities that fund deferred compensation 97 97 — —

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Cash and cash equivalents

Money market funds 16 16 — —
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Fair Value Measurements
Using Inputs Considered as

 

Fair Value at
August 2, 2014

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

ASSETS        
Cash and cash equivalents

Money market funds $ 211 $ 211 $ — $ —
Commercial paper 111 — 111 —

Short-term investments        
Commercial paper 364 — 364 —
U.S. Treasury bills 100 100 — —

Other current assets        
Foreign currency derivative instruments 1 — 1 —

Other assets        
Auction rate securities 9 — — 9
Marketable equity securities 10 10 — —
Marketable securities that fund deferred compensation 98 98 — —

There was no change in the beginning and ending balances of items measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the tables 
above that used significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the three months ended August 1, 2015. 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:
 

Money Market Funds.  Our money market fund investments were measured at fair value as they trade in an active market 
using quoted market prices and therefore, were classified as Level 1.

Corporate Bonds.  Our corporate bond investments were measured at fair value using quoted market prices. They were 
classified as Level 2 as they trade in a non-active market for which bond prices are readily available. 

 
Commercial Paper.  Our investments in commercial paper were measured using inputs based upon quoted prices for 
similar instruments in active markets and, therefore, were classified as Level 2.
 
Treasury Bills.  Our U.S. Treasury bills were classified as Level 1 as they trade with sufficient frequency and volume to 
enable us to obtain pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

Foreign Currency Derivative Instruments.  Comprised primarily of foreign currency forward contracts and foreign 
currency swap contracts, our foreign currency derivative instruments were measured at fair value using readily observable 
market inputs, such as quotations on forward foreign exchange points and foreign interest rates. Our foreign currency 
derivative instruments were classified as Level 2 as these instruments are custom, over-the-counter contracts with various 
bank counterparties that are not traded in an active market.

Interest Rate Swap Derivative Instruments.  Our interest rate swap contracts were measured at fair value using readily 
observable inputs, such as the LIBOR interest rate. Our interest rate swap derivative instruments were classified as Level 2 
as these instruments are custom, over-the-counter contracts with various bank counterparties that are not traded in an active 
market. 
 
Auction Rate Securities.  Our investments in auction rate securities ("ARS") were classified as Level 3 as quoted prices 
were unavailable. Due to limited market information, we utilized a discounted cash flow ("DCF") model to derive an 
estimate of fair value. The assumptions we used in preparing the DCF model included estimates with respect to the amount 
and timing of future interest and principal payments, forward projections of the interest rate benchmarks, the probability of 
full repayment of the principal considering the credit quality and guarantees in place, and the rate of return required by 
investors to own such securities given the current liquidity risk associated with ARS.
 
Marketable Equity Securities.  Our marketable equity securities were measured at fair value using quoted market prices. 
They were classified as Level 1 as they trade in an active market for which closing stock prices are readily available.



Table of Contents

12

 
Marketable Securities that Fund Deferred Compensation. The assets that fund our deferred compensation consist of 
investments in mutual funds. These investments were classified as Level 1 as the shares of these mutual funds trade with 
sufficient frequency and volume to enable us to obtain pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Assets and Liabilities that are Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
 
Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis relate primarily to our tangible fixed assets, 
goodwill and other intangible assets, which are remeasured when the derived fair value is below carrying value on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. For these assets, we do not periodically adjust carrying value to fair value, except in the event of 
impairment. When we determine that impairment has occurred, the carrying value of the asset is reduced to fair value and the 
difference is recorded within operating income in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

The following table summarizes the fair value remeasurements for non-restructuring property and equipment impairments and 
restructuring impairments recorded during the six months ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014 ($ in millions):

Six Months Ended Six Months Ended
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

  Impairments
Remaining Net 

Carrying Value(1) Impairments
Remaining Net 

Carrying Value(1)

Continuing operations
Property and equipment (non-restructuring) $ 26 $ 9 $ 21 $ 8
Restructuring activities(2)

Tradename 40 — — —
Property and equipment 30 — 1 —

Total continuing operations $ 96 $ 9 $ 22 $ 8

(1) Remaining net carrying value approximates fair value.

(2) See Note 5, Restructuring Charges, for additional information.

All of the fair value remeasurements included in the table above were based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). Fixed 
asset fair values were derived using a DCF model to estimate the present value of net cash flows that the asset or asset group 
was expected to generate. The key inputs to the DCF model generally included our forecasts of net cash generated from 
revenue, expenses and other significant cash outflows, such as capital expenditures, as well as an appropriate discount rate. For 
the tradename, fair value was derived using the relief from royalty method. In the case of assets for which the impairment was 
the result of restructuring activities, no future cash flows have been assumed as the assets will cease to be used and expected 
sale values are nominal.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments, other than those presented in the disclosures above, include cash, receivables, short-term 
investments, other investments, accounts payable, other payables, and long-term debt. The fair values of cash, receivables, 
short-term investments, accounts payable and other payables approximated carrying values because of the short-term nature of 
these instruments. Short-term investments other than those disclosed in the tables above represent time deposits. Fair values for 
other investments held at cost are not readily available, but we estimate that the carrying values for these investments 
approximate fair value. See Note 6, Debt, for information about the fair value of our long-term debt.
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4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 
The changes in the carrying values of goodwill and indefinite-lived tradenames by segment were as follows in the six months 
ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014 ($ in millions):

 
Goodwill Indefinite-lived Tradenames

 
Domestic Domestic International Total

Balances at January 31, 2015 $ 425 $ 18 $ 39 $ 57
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates — — 1 1
Canada brand restructuring(1) — — (40) (40)

Balances at August 1, 2015 $ 425 $ 18 $ — $ 18  
(1) Represents the Future Shop tradename impaired as a result of the Canadian brand consolidation in the first quarter of fiscal 2016. See Note 5, 

Restructuring Charges, for further discussion of the Canadian brand consolidation.

 
Goodwill Indefinite-lived Tradenames

 
Domestic Domestic International Total

Balances at February 1, 2014 $ 425 $ 19 $ 82 $ 101
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates — — (1) (1)

Balances at August 2, 2014 $ 425 $ 19 $ 81 $ 100

The following table provides the gross carrying amount of goodwill and cumulative goodwill impairment ($ in millions):

 
August 1, 2015 January 31, 2015 August 2, 2014

 

Gross
Carrying
Amount(1)

Cumulative
Impairment(1)

Gross
Carrying
Amount(1)

Cumulative
Impairment(1)

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Cumulative
Impairment

Goodwill $ 1,100 $ (675) $ 1,100 $ (675) $ 1,308 $ (883)

(1) Excludes the gross carrying amount and cumulative impairment related to Five Star, which was held for sale at January 31, 2015. The sale was completed 
on February 13, 2015.

5. Restructuring Charges

Charges incurred in the six months ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014, for our restructuring activities were as follows ($ 
in millions):

Six Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Continuing operations
Canadian brand consolidation $ 184 $ —
Renew Blue (2) 13
Other restructuring activities(1) — (6)

Total continuing operations 182 7
Discontinued operations

Renew Blue — 1
Total restructuring charges $ 182 $ 8

(1) Represents activity related to our remaining vacant space liability for U.S. large-format store closures in fiscal 2013. We may continue to incur immaterial 
adjustments to the liability for changes in sublease assumptions or potential lease buyouts. In addition, lease payments for vacated stores will continue 
until leases expire or are terminated. The remaining vacant space liability was $19 million at August 1, 2015.

Canadian Brand Consolidation

In the first quarter of fiscal 2016, we consolidated the Future Shop and Best Buy stores and websites in Canada under the Best 
Buy brand. This resulted in the permanent closure of 66 Future Shop stores and the conversion of the remaining 65 Future Shop 
stores to the Best Buy brand. In the first six months of fiscal 2016, we incurred $184 million of restructuring charges related to 
implementing these changes, which primarily consisted of lease exit costs, a tradename impairment, property and equipment 
impairments, employee termination benefits and inventory write-downs. We expect to incur total pre-tax charges in the range of 
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$200 million to $280 million related to this action, which includes restructuring charges and other non-restructuring asset 
impairments and costs. The total charges include approximately $140 million to $180 million of cash charges. We expect to 
substantially complete this activity in fiscal 2016, with the exception of lease payments for vacated stores which will continue 
until the leases expire or we otherwise terminate the leases.

The inventory write-downs related to our Canadian brand consolidation are presented in restructuring charges – cost of goods 
sold in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings, and the remainder of the restructuring charges are presented in restructuring 
charges in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The composition of total restructuring charges we incurred for the 
Canadian brand consolidation in the first six months of fiscal 2016 was as follows ($ in millions):

International
Continuing operations

Inventory write-downs $ 5
Property and equipment impairments 30
Tradename impairment 40
Termination benefits 24
Facility closure and other costs 85

Total continuing operations $ 184

The following tables summarize our restructuring accrual activity during the six months ended August 1, 2015, related to 
termination benefits and facility closure and other costs associated with Canadian brand consolidation ($ in millions):

 
Termination

Benefits

Facility
Closure and
Other Costs Total

Balances at January 31, 2015 $ — $ — $ —
Charges 27 104 131
Cash payments (21) (18) (39)
Adjustments(1) (2) (4) (6)
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates — (3) (3)

Balances at August 1, 2015 $ 4 $ 79 $ 83
(1) The adjustments related to termination benefits relate to higher-than-expected employee retention. Adjustments to facility closure and other costs represent 
changes in sublease assumptions.

Renew Blue

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, we launched the Renew Blue strategy, which included initiatives intended to reduce costs 
and improve operating performance. These initiatives included focusing on core business activities, reducing headcount, 
updating our store operating model and optimizing our real estate portfolio. These cost reduction initiatives represented one of 
the key Renew Blue priorities. We recognized a benefit of $2 million and incurred $13 million of restructuring charges related 
to Renew Blue initiatives during the first six months of fiscal 2016 and 2015, respectively. The benefit in the first six months of 
fiscal 2016 was primarily due to an adjustment to the employee termination benefit liability due to higher-than-expected 
employee retention. The charges in the first six months of fiscal 2015 were primarily comprised of employee termination 
benefits. We expect to continue to implement cost reduction initiatives throughout the remainder of fiscal 2016, as we further 
analyze our operations and strategies.

For continuing operations, the inventory write-downs related to our Renew Blue restructuring activities are presented in 
restructuring charges - cost of goods sold in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings and the remainder of the restructuring 
charges are presented in restructuring charges. The restructuring charges from discontinued operations related to this plan are 
presented in discontinued operations, net of tax. 
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The composition of the restructuring charges we incurred for this program in the six months ended August 1, 2015, and 
August 2, 2014, as well as the cumulative amount incurred through August 1, 2015, was as follows ($ in millions):

Domestic International Total
Six Months Ended

Cumulative
Amount

Six Months Ended

Cumulative
Amount

Six Months Ended

Cumulative
Amount

August 1,
2015

August 2,
2014

August 1,
2015

August 2,
2014

August 1,
2015

August 2,
2014

Continuing
operations
Inventory write-

downs $ — $ — $ 1 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 1
Property and

equipment
impairments — — 14 — 1 25 — 1 39

Termination
benefits (2) 7 159 — 5 38 (2) 12 197

Investment
impairments — — 43 — — — — — 43

Facility closure and
other costs 1 — 5 (1) — 50 — — 55

Total continuing
operations (1) 7 222 (1) 6 113 (2) 13 335

Discontinued
operations

Property and
equipment
impairments — — — — — 1 — — 1
Termination
benefits — — — — — 16 — — 16
Facility closure and
other costs — — — — 1 11 — 1 11

Total
Discontinued
Operations — — — — 1 28 — 1 28

Total $ (1) $ 7 $ 222 $ (1) $ 7 $ 141 $ (2) $ 14 $ 363

The following tables summarize our restructuring accrual activity during the six months ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 
2014, related to termination benefits and facility closure and other costs associated with this program ($ in millions):

 
Termination

Benefits

Facility
Closure and
Other Costs Total

Balances at January 31, 2015 $ 16 $ 23 $ 39
Charges — — —
Cash payments (7) (6) (13)
Adjustments(1) (8) (5) (13)
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates — — —

Balances at August 1, 2015 $ 1 $ 12 $ 13

(1) Adjustments to termination benefits were due to higher-than-expected employee retention. In addition, adjustments include the remaining liabilities 
eliminated as a result of the sale of Five Star, as described in Note 2, Discontinued Operations.
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Termination
Benefits

Facility
Closure and
Other Costs Total

Balances at February 1, 2014 $ 111 $ 51 $ 162
Charges 28 7 35
Cash payments (106) (9) (115)
Adjustments(1) (16) (4) (20)
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates — (5) (5)

Balances at August 2, 2014 $ 17 $ 40 $ 57

(1) Adjustments to termination benefits were due to higher-than-expected employee retention. Adjustments to facility closure and other costs represent 
changes in sublease assumptions.

6. Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following ($ in millions):

 
August 1, 2015 January 31, 2015 August 2, 2014

2016 Notes $ 350 $ 349 $ 350
2018 Notes 500 500 500
2021 Notes 649 649 649
Interest rate swap valuation adjustments 13 1 —
Financing lease obligations 52 69 83
Capital lease obligations 45 52 52
Other debt — 1 1
   Total long-term debt 1,609 1,621 1,635
Less: current portion(1) (382) (41) (43)
   Total long-term debt, less current portion $ 1,227 $ 1,580 $ 1,592  

(1) Our 2016 Notes due March 15, 2016, are classified in the current portion of long-term debt as of August 1, 2015.

The fair value of total long-term debt approximated $1,669 million, $1,677 million, and $1,670 million at August 1, 2015, 
January 31, 2015, and August 2, 2014, respectively, based primarily on the market prices quoted from external sources, 
compared with carrying values of $1,609 million, $1,621 million, and $1,635 million, respectively. If long-term debt was 
measured at fair value in the financial statements, it would be classified primarily as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

See Note 5, Debt, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal 
year ended January 31, 2015, for additional information regarding the terms of our debt facilities, debt instruments and other 
obligations.

7. Derivative Instruments

We manage our economic and transaction exposure to certain risks through the use of foreign currency derivative instruments. 
Our objective in holding these derivatives is to reduce the volatility of net earnings and cash flows, as well as net asset value 
associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We do not hold derivative instruments for trading or speculative 
purposes. We have no derivatives that have credit risk-related contingent features, and we mitigate our credit risk by engaging 
with major financial institutions as our counterparties.

We record all foreign currency derivative instruments on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value and evaluate 
hedge effectiveness prospectively and retrospectively when electing to apply hedge accounting. We formally document all 
hedging relations at inception for derivative hedges and the underlying hedged items, as well as the risk management objectives 
and strategies for undertaking the hedge transaction. In addition, we have derivatives which are not designated as hedging 
instruments.

Net Investment Hedges

We use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against the effect of Canadian dollar exchange rate fluctuations on a 
portion of our net investment in our Canadian operations. The contracts have terms up to 12 months. For a net investment 
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hedge, we recognize changes in the fair value of the derivative as a component of foreign currency translation within other 
comprehensive income to offset a portion of the change in translated value of the net investment being hedged, until the 
investment is sold or liquidated. We limit recognition in net earnings of amounts previously recorded in other comprehensive 
income to circumstances such as complete or substantially complete liquidation of the net investment in the hedged foreign 
operation. We report the ineffective portion of the gain or loss, if any, in net earnings.

Interest Rate Swaps

We use "receive fixed-rate, pay variable-rate" interest rate swaps to mitigate the effect of interest rate fluctuations on our 2018 
Notes and 2021 Notes. Our interest rate swap contracts are considered perfect hedges because the critical terms and notional 
amounts match those of our fixed-rate debt being hedged and are therefore accounted as a fair value hedge using the shortcut 
method. Under the shortcut method, we recognize the change in the fair value of the derivatives with an offsetting change to the 
carrying value of the debt. Accordingly, there is no impact on our Consolidated Statements of Earnings from the fair value of 
the derivatives. 

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

We use foreign currency forward contracts to manage the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates relative to 
recognized receivable and payable balances denominated in non-functional currencies and on certain forecast inventory 
purchases denominated in non-functional currencies. The contracts generally have terms of up to 12 months. These derivative 
instruments are not designated in hedging relationships and, therefore, we record gains and losses on these contracts directly to 
net earnings. 

Summary of Derivative Balances

The following table presents the gross fair values for outstanding derivative instruments and the corresponding classification at 
August 1, 2015, January 31, 2015 and August 2, 2014 (in millions):

August 1, 2015 January 31, 2015 August 2, 2014

Contract Type Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Derivatives designated as net 
investment hedges(1) $ 17 $ — $ 19 $ — $ — $ —
Derivatives designated as interest rate 
swaps(2) 13 — 1 — — —
No hedge designation (foreign 
exchange forward contracts)(1) 4 — 11 — 1 —
Total $ 34 $ — $ 31 $ — $ 1 $ —

(1)  The fair value is recorded in other current assets or accrued liabilities.

(2)  The fair value is recorded in other assets or long-term liabilities.
 
The following table presents the effects of derivative instruments on Other Comprehensive Income ("OCI") and on our 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the three and six months ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014, respectively (in 
millions): 

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended Six Months Ended
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Contract Type

Pre-tax Gain
(Loss)

Recognized
in OCI

Gain(Loss)
Reclassified

from
Accumulated

OCI to
Earnings
(Effective
Portion)

Pre-tax Gain
(Loss)

Recognized
in OCI

Gain(Loss)
Reclassified

from
Accumulated

OCI to
Earnings
(Effective
Portion)

Pre-tax Gain
(Loss)

Recognized
in OCI

Gain(Loss)
Reclassified

from
Accumulated

OCI to
Earnings
(Effective
Portion)

Pre-tax Gain
(Loss)

Recognized
in OCI

Gain(Loss)
Reclassified

from
Accumulated

OCI to
Earnings
(Effective
Portion)

Derivatives designated
as net investment hedges $ 15 $ — $ — $ — $ 6 $ — $ — $ —

The following tables present the effects of derivative instruments on our Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the three and 
six months ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014, respectively (in millions):
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Gain (Loss) Recognized within SG&A Gain (Loss) Recognized within SG&A
Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended Six Months Ended

Contract Type August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

No hedge designation (foreign exchange
forward contracts) $ 1 $ (1) $ (4) $ (4)

Gain (Loss) Recognized within Interest Expense Gain (Loss) Recognized within Interest Expense

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended Six Months Ended

Contract Type August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Interest rate swap gain $ 8 $ — $ 12 $ —
Long-term debt loss (8) — (12) —
Net impact on Consolidated Statements
of Earnings $ — $ — $ — $ —

The following table presents the notional amounts of our derivative instruments at August 1, 2015, January 31, 2015 and 
August 2, 2014 (in millions):

Notional Amount

Contract Type August 1, 2015 January 31, 2015 August 2, 2014

Derivatives designated as net investment hedges $ 207 $ 197 $ —
Derivatives designated as interest rate swaps 750 145 —
No hedge designation (foreign exchange forward contracts) 163 212 95
Total $ 1,120 $ 554 $ 95

8. Earnings per Share
 
We compute our basic earnings per share based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding and our diluted 
earnings per share based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding adjusted by the number of additional 
shares that would have been outstanding had potentially dilutive common shares been issued. Potentially dilutive securities 
include stock options, nonvested share awards and shares issuable under our employee stock purchase plan. Nonvested market-
based share awards and nonvested performance-based share awards are included in the average diluted shares outstanding for 
each period if established market or performance criteria have been met at the end of the respective periods.

The following table presents a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of basic and diluted earnings per share from 
continuing operations attributable to Best Buy Co., Inc. ($ and shares in millions):

 
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Numerator
   

Net earnings from continuing operations attributable
to Best Buy Co., Inc. $ 164 $ 137 $ 201 $ 606

Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 349.6 349.3 351.0 348.4
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:

Nonvested share awards 4.3 2.9 4.8 3.2
Weighted-average common shares outstanding,

assuming dilution 353.9 352.2 355.8 351.6

Net earnings per share from continuing operations
attributable to Best Buy Co., Inc.
Basic $ 0.47 $ 0.39 $ 0.57 $ 1.74
Diluted $ 0.46 $ 0.39 $ 0.57 $ 1.73
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The computation of weighted-average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution, excluded options to purchase 10.4 
million and 13.5 million shares of our common stock for the three months ended August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014, 
respectively, and options to purchase 10.4 million and 13.5 million shares of our common stock for the six months ended 
August 1, 2015, and August 2, 2014, respectively. These amounts were excluded as the options’ exercise prices were greater 
than the average market price of our common stock for the periods presented and, therefore, the effect would be anti-dilutive 
(i.e., including such options would result in higher earnings per share).

9. Comprehensive Income
 
The following tables provide a reconciliation of the components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, 
attributable to Best Buy Co., Inc. for the three and six months ended August 1, 2015, and the six months ended August 2, 2014, 
respectively ($ in millions):

Foreign Currency
Translation

Available-For-Sale
Investments Total

Balances at May 2, 2015 $ 330 $ — 330
Foreign currency translation adjustments (32) — (32)

Balances at August 1, 2015 $ 298 $ — $ 298

Foreign Currency
Translation

Available-For-Sale
Investments Total

Balances at January 31, 2015 $ 382 $ — $ 382
Foreign currency translation adjustments (17) — (17)
Reclassification of foreign currency translation adjustments into

earnings due to sale of business (67) — (67)
Balances at August 1, 2015 $ 298 $ — $ 298

Foreign Currency
Translation

Available-For-Sale
Investments Total

Balances at February 1, 2014 $ 485 $ 7 $ 492
Foreign currency translation adjustments 3 — 3
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale investments — (1) (1)

Balances at August 2, 2014 $ 488 $ 6 $ 494

The gains and losses on our net investment hedges, which are included in foreign currency translation, were not material for the 
periods presented. There is generally no tax impact related to foreign currency translation adjustments, as the earnings are 
considered permanently reinvested. In addition, there were no material tax impacts related to unrealized gains or losses on 
available-for-sale investments in the periods presented.

10. Repurchase of Common Stock

We have a $5.0 billion share repurchase program that was authorized by our Board of Directors in June 2011. At the beginning 
of the second quarter of fiscal 2016, there was $4.0 billion available for share repurchases. There is no expiration date 
governing the period over which we can repurchase shares under the June 2011 share repurchase program. On March 3, 2015, 
we announced that we planned to resume share repurchases under the 2011 program, with the intent to purchase $1.0 billion in 
the 3 years following the announcement. 

For the three and six months ended August 1, 2015, we repurchased 9.5 million shares of our common stock at a cost of $324 
million. No shares were repurchased during the three and six months ended August 2, 2014. At August 1, 2015, approximately 
$3.7 billion remained available for additional purchases under the June 2011 share repurchase program. Repurchased shares 
have been retired and constituted authorized, but unissued shares. 
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11. Income Taxes
 
In the first quarter of fiscal 2015, we filed an election with the Internal Revenue Service to treat a U.K. subsidiary as a 
disregarded entity such that its assets were deemed to be assets held directly by a U.S. entity for U.S. tax purposes. This tax-
only election resulted in the elimination of our outside basis difference in the U.K. subsidiary. Additionally, the election 
resulted in the recognition of a deferred tax asset (and corresponding income tax benefit) for the remaining unrecognized inside 
tax basis in the U.K. subsidiary’s intangible asset. Excluding the $353 million income tax benefit related to this election, our 
effective tax rate in the first six months of fiscal 2015 would have been 36.8%. See Note 10, Income Taxes, in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015, for 
additional information.

12. Segments
 

Our chief operating decision maker ("CODM") is our Chief Executive Officer. Our business is organized into two segments: 
Domestic (which is comprised of all operations within the U.S. and its territories) and International (which is comprised of all 
operations outside the U.S. and its territories). Our CODM has ultimate responsibility for enterprise decisions. Our CODM 
determines, in particular, resource allocation for, and monitors performance of, the consolidated enterprise, the Domestic 
segment and the International segment. The Domestic and International segment managers have responsibility for operating 
decisions, allocating resources and assessing performance within their respective segments. Our CODM relies on internal 
management reporting that analyzes enterprise results to the net earnings level and segment results to the operating income 
level. 
 
We aggregate our Canada and Mexico businesses into one International operating segment. Our Domestic and International 
operating segments also represent our reportable segments. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those 
described in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015.

Revenue by reportable segment was as follows ($ in millions):

 
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Domestic $ 7,878 $ 7,585 $ 15,768 $ 15,366
International 650 874 1,318 1,732

Total revenue $ 8,528 $ 8,459 $ 17,086 $ 17,098

Operating income (loss) by reportable segment and the reconciliation to earnings from continuing operations before income tax 
(benefit) expense were as follows ($ in millions):

 
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Domestic $ 309 $ 258 $ 613 $ 484
International (21) (33) (239) (49)

Total operating income 288 225 374 435
Other income (expense)

Gain on sale of investments — 2 2 2
Investment income and other 4 6 11 10
Interest expense (20) (23) (40) (46)

Earnings from continuing operations before income tax
(benefit) expense $ 272 $ 210 $ 347 $ 401

 
Assets by reportable segment were as follows ($ in millions):

 
August 1, 2015 January 31, 2015 August 2, 2014

Domestic $ 12,335 $ 12,998 $ 11,847
International 1,231 2,258 2,502

Total assets $ 13,566 $ 15,256 $ 14,349
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13. Contingencies

We are involved in a number of legal proceedings. Where appropriate, we have made accruals with respect to these matters, 
which are reflected in our consolidated financial statements. However, there are cases where liability is not probable or the 
amount cannot be reasonably estimated and therefore accruals have not been made. We provide disclosure of matters where we 
believe it is reasonably possible the impact may be material to our consolidated financial statements.

Securities Actions
 
In February 2011, a purported class action lawsuit captioned, IBEW Local 98 Pension Fund, individually and on behalf of all 
others similarly situated v. Best Buy Co., Inc., et al., was filed against us and certain of our executive officers in the U.S. 
District Court for the District of Minnesota. This federal court action alleges, among other things, that we and the officers 
named in the complaint violated Sections 10(b) and 20A of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act in 
connection with press releases and other statements relating to our fiscal 2011 earnings guidance that had been made available 
to the public. Additionally, in March 2011, a similar purported class action was filed by a single shareholder, Rene LeBlanc, 
against us and certain of our executive officers in the same court. In July 2011, after consolidation of the IBEW Local 98 
Pension Fund and Rene LeBlanc actions, a consolidated complaint captioned, IBEW Local 98 Pension Fund v. Best Buy Co., 
Inc., et al., was filed and served. We filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint in September 2011, and in March 
2012, subsequent to the end of fiscal 2012, the court issued a decision dismissing the action with prejudice. In April 2012, the 
plaintiffs filed a motion to alter or amend the court's decision on our motion to dismiss. In October 2012, the court granted 
plaintiff's motion to alter or amend the court's decision on our motion to dismiss in part by vacating such decision and giving 
plaintiff leave to file an amended complaint, which plaintiff did in October 2012. We filed a motion to dismiss the amended 
complaint in November 2012 and all responsive pleadings were filed in December 2012. A hearing was held on April 26, 2013. 
On August 5, 2013, the court issued an order granting our motion to dismiss in part and, contrary to its March 2012 order, 
denying the motion to dismiss in part, holding that certain of the statements alleged to have been made were not forward-
looking statements and therefore were not subject to the “safe-harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act (PSLRA). Plaintiffs moved to certify the purported class. By Order filed August 6, 2014, the court certified a class of 
persons or entities who acquired Best Buy common stock between 10:00 a.m. EDT on September 14, 2010, and December 13, 
2010, and who were damaged by the alleged violations of law. The 8th Circuit Court of Appeals granted our request for 
interlocutory appeal. Briefing is complete. Oral argument is expected to be scheduled later in 2015. The trial court has stayed 
proceedings while the appeal is pending. We continue to believe that these allegations are without merit and intend to 
vigorously defend our company in this matter.
 
In June 2011, a purported shareholder derivative action captioned, Salvatore M. Talluto, Derivatively and on Behalf of Best Buy 
Co., Inc. v. Richard M. Schulze, et al., as Defendants and Best Buy Co., Inc. as Nominal Defendant, was filed against both 
present and former members of our Board of Directors serving during the relevant periods in fiscal 2011 and us as a nominal 
defendant in the U.S. District Court for the State of Minnesota. The lawsuit alleges that the director defendants breached their 
fiduciary duty, among other claims, including violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, in 
failing to correct public misrepresentations and material misstatements and/or omissions regarding our fiscal 2011 earnings 
projections and, for certain directors, selling stock while in possession of material adverse non-public information. Additionally, 
in July 2011, a similar purported class action was filed by a single shareholder, Daniel Himmel, against us and certain of our 
executive officers in the same court. In November 2011, the respective lawsuits of Salvatore M. Talluto and Daniel Himmel 
were consolidated into a new action captioned, In Re: Best Buy Co., Inc. Shareholder Derivative Litigation, and a stay ordered 
pending the close of discovery in the consolidated IBEW Local 98 Pension Fund v. Best Buy Co., Inc., et al. case. Additionally, 
in June, 2015, a similar purported class action was filed by a single shareholder, Khuong Tran, derivatively on behalf of Best 
Buy Co., Inc. against us and certain of our executive officers and directors in the same court. The Tran lawsuit has also been 
stayed pending the close of discovery in IBEW.

The plaintiffs in the above securities actions seek damages, including interest, equitable relief and reimbursement of the costs 
and expenses they incurred in the lawsuits. As stated above, we believe the allegations in the above securities actions are 
without merit, and we intend to defend these actions vigorously. Based on our assessment of the facts underlying the claims in 
the above securities actions, their respective procedural litigation history, and the degree to which we intend to defend our 
company in these matters, the amount or range of reasonably possible losses, if any, cannot be 

Cathode Ray Tube Action

On November 14, 2011, we filed a lawsuit captioned In re Cathode Ray Tube Antitrust Litigation in the United States District 
Court for the Northern District of California. We allege that the defendants engaged in price fixing in violation of antitrust 
regulations relating to cathode ray tubes for the time period between March 1, 1995 through November 25, 2007. No trial date 
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has been set. In connection with this action, we received settlement proceeds net of legal expenses and costs in the amount of 
$8 million and $75 million in the second quarter and the first six months of fiscal 2016, respectively. We will continue to 
litigate against the remaining defendants and expect further settlement discussions as this matter proceeds; however, it is 
uncertain whether we will recover additional settlement sums or a favorable verdict at trial.

Other Legal Proceedings
 
We are involved in various other legal proceedings arising in the normal course of conducting business. For such legal 
proceedings, we have accrued an amount that reflects the aggregate liability deemed probable and estimable, but this amount is 
not material to our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Because of the preliminary nature of 
many of these proceedings, the difficulty in ascertaining the applicable facts relating to many of these proceedings, the variable 
treatment of claims made in many of these proceedings and the difficulty of predicting the settlement value of many of these 
proceedings, we are not able to estimate an amount or range of any reasonably possible additional losses. However, based upon 
our historical experience, the resolution of these proceedings is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
Unless the context otherwise requires, the use of the terms “Best Buy,” “we,” “us,” and “our” in the following refers to Best 
Buy Co., Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is intended to provide a 
reader of our financial statements with a narrative, from the perspective of our management, on our financial condition, results 
of operations, liquidity and certain other factors that may affect our future results. Unless otherwise noted, transactions and 
other factors significantly impacting our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity are discussed in order of 
magnitude. Our MD&A is presented in seven sections:

• Overview
• Business Strategy Update
• Results of Operations
• Liquidity and Capital Resources
• Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations
• Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
• New Accounting Pronouncements

Our MD&A should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015 
(including the information presented therein under Risk Factors), as well as our reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K and other 
publicly available information. All amounts herein are unaudited.

Overview

We are a leading provider of technology products, services and solutions. We offer expert service at unbeatable prices more 
than 1.5 billion times a year to the consumers, small business owners and educators who visit our stores, engage with Geek 
Squad agents or use our websites or mobile applications. We have retail and online operations in the U.S., Canada and Mexico. 
We operate two reportable segments: Domestic and International. The Domestic segment is comprised of all operations within 
the U.S. and its territories. The International segment is comprised of all operations outside the U.S. and its territories. 

Our business, like that of many retailers, is seasonal. Historically, we have generated a higher proportion of our revenue and 
earnings in the fiscal fourth quarter, which includes the majority of the holiday shopping season in the U.S., Canada and 
Mexico ("Holiday"). While consumers view some of the products and services we offer as essential, others are viewed as 
discretionary purchases. Consequently, our financial results are susceptible to changes in consumer confidence and other 
macroeconomic factors, including population growth, unemployment, consumer credit availability and the condition of the 
housing market. Additionally, other factors directly impact our performance, such as product life-cycles (including the 
introduction and pace of adoption of new technology), consumer trends and the competitive retail environment. As a result of 
these factors, predicting our future revenue and net earnings is difficult. 

Throughout this MD&A, we refer to comparable sales. Our comparable sales calculation compares revenue from stores, 
websites and call centers operating for at least 14 full months, as well as revenue related to certain other comparable sales 
channels for a particular period to the corresponding period in the prior year. Relocated stores, as well as remodeled, expanded 
and downsized stores closed more than 14 days, are excluded from the comparable sales calculation until at least 14 full months 
after reopening. Acquisitions are included in the comparable sales calculation beginning with the first full quarter following the 
first anniversary of the date of the acquisition. The portion of the calculation of comparable sales attributable to our 
International segment excludes the effect of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The calculation of comparable 
sales excludes the impact of revenue from discontinued operations. The Canadian brand consolidation, which included the 
permanent closure of 66 Future Shop stores, the conversion of 65 Future Shop stores to Best Buy stores and the elimination of 
the Future Shop website, is expected to have a material impact on a year-over-year basis on the remaining Canadian retail stores 
and the website. As such, all Canadian store and website revenue has been removed from the comparable sales base and the 
International segment (comprised of Canada and Mexico) no longer has a comparable metric in fiscal 2016. Therefore, 
Enterprise comparable sales will be equal to Domestic segment comparable sales until International segment revenue is again 
comparable on a year-over-year basis. Enterprise comparable sales for periods presented prior to fiscal 2016 includes revenue 
from our International segment.

The method of calculating comparable sales varies across the retail industry. As a result, our method of calculating comparable 
sales may not be the same as other retailers' methods. 
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In our discussions of the operating results of our consolidated business and our International segment, we sometimes refer to 
the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates or the impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, which 
are references to the differences between the foreign currency exchange rates we use to convert the International segment’s 
operating results from local currencies into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes. The impact of foreign currency exchange rate 
fluctuations is typically calculated as the difference between current period activity translated using the current period’s 
currency exchange rates and the comparable prior-year period’s currency exchange rates. We use this method to calculate the 
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates for all countries where the functional currency is not the U.S. dollar. 

This MD&A includes reference to sales for certain consumer electronics categories. According to The NPD Group’s ("NPD") 
Weekly Tracking Service as published August 10, 2015, revenue for the consumer electronics industry declined 1.3% during the 
13 weeks ended August 1, 2015, compared to the 13 weeks ended August 2, 2014. The consumer electronics industry, as 
defined by NPD, includes televisions, desktop and notebook computers, tablets not including Kindle, digital imaging and other 
categories. Sales of these products represent approximately 65% of our Domestic segment revenue. The data does not include 
mobile phones, gaming, movies, music, appliances or services.

This MD&A includes financial information prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States ("GAAP"), as well as certain adjusted or non-GAAP financial measures such as non-GAAP operating income, non-
GAAP net earnings from continuing operations, non-GAAP diluted earnings per share ("EPS") from continuing operations and 
non-GAAP debt to earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation, amortization and rent ("EBITDAR") ratio. Generally, a 
non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of financial performance, financial position or cash flows that excludes 
(or includes) amounts that are included in (or excluded from) the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in 
accordance with GAAP. The non-GAAP financial measures should be viewed as a supplement to, and not a substitute for, 
financial measures presented in accordance with GAAP. Non-GAAP measures as presented herein may not be comparable to 
similarly titled measures used by other companies. 

We believe that the non-GAAP measures described above provide meaningful supplemental information to assist shareholders 
in understanding our financial results and assessing our prospects for future performance. Management believes non-GAAP 
operating income, non-GAAP net earnings from continuing operations and non-GAAP diluted earnings per share from 
continuing operations are important indicators of our operations because they exclude items that may not be indicative of, or are 
unrelated to, our core operating results and provide a baseline for analyzing trends in our underlying businesses. Management 
makes standard adjustments for items such as restructuring charges, goodwill impairments, non-restructuring asset impairments 
and gains or losses on investments, as well as adjustments for other items that may arise during the period and have a 
meaningful impact on comparability. To measure adjusted operating income, we removed the impact of the cathode ray tube 
("CRT") litigation settlements and related legal fees and costs, restructuring charges – cost of goods sold, non-restructuring 
asset impairments, restructuring charges and other Canadian brand consolidation costs from operating income. Non-GAAP net 
earnings from continuing operations was calculated by removing the after-tax impact of operating income adjustments and the 
gains on investments, as well as the income tax impacts of reorganizing certain European legal entities in the first quarter of 
fiscal 2015 from net earnings from continuing operations. To measure non-GAAP diluted EPS from continuing operations, we 
excluded the per share impact of net earnings adjustments from diluted earnings per share. Management believes our non-
GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio is an important indicator of our creditworthiness. Because non-GAAP financial measures are not 
standardized, it may not be possible to compare these financial measures with other companies' non-GAAP financial measures 
having the same or similar names. These non-GAAP financial measures are an additional way of viewing aspects of our 
operations that, when viewed with our GAAP results and the reconciliations to GAAP results within our discussion of 
consolidated performance below, provide a more complete understanding of our business. We strongly encourage investors and 
shareholders to review our financial statements and publicly-filed reports in their entirety and not to rely on any single financial 
measure.

Business Strategy Update

Enterprise revenue grew 0.8% to $8.5 billion in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 driven by a 3.9% revenue increase in the 
Domestic segment, partially offset by the impact of the Canadian brand consolidation and approximately 120 basis points of 
impact from foreign currency. Better year-over-year performance in the Domestic segment also drove an approximately 50 
basis point increase in the Enterprise non-GAAP operating income rate to 3.4% and a 17.0% increase in non-GAAP diluted 
EPS to $0.49. We also returned $321 million in cash to shareholders through share repurchases and $81 million in regular 
dividends. 

In the Domestic segment, our comparable sales increased 2.7%, excluding the impact of installment billing, driven by continued 
strong performance in major appliances, large screen televisions and mobile phones. Online comparable sales increased 17.0% 
as our investments in new capabilities continued to drive increased traffic and higher conversion rates. We also saw industry 
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revenue in the NPD tracked categories, representing 65% of our revenue, improve from a decline of 5.3% in the first quarter of 
fiscal 2016 to a decline of 1.3% in the second quarter of fiscal 2016. 

In the International segment, while revenue declined due to store closures and fluctuations in foreign currency, we have 
experienced higher-than expected customer retention from the 66 permanently closed Future Shop locations in Canada. We are 
now in the midst of converting the remaining 65 Future Shop locations to the Best Buy brand. Much of the work and 
investments around building a superior multi-channel customer experience in Canada are still ahead of us.

As we approach the third anniversary of the launch of our Renew Blue strategy, we have three important observations that are 
relevant when evaluating the progress we have made so far:

1. Industry trends. We believe that overall consumer demand for technology products and services, including appliances 
and mobile phones, is growing. This is driven by technology and product innovation and by macro factors such as 
population growth, the housing recovery and healthy living trends that are driving momentum in our appliances, home 
theater, connected home and health & wearables categories, which we believe will remain positive catalysts in quarters 
to come. In addition, the increasing complexity and interoperability of technology products, and the advent of the “the 
Internet of Things”, are making Best Buy’s operating model increasingly relevant as customers want and need more 
help selecting, installing, connecting, integrating, using, maintaining and taking full advantage of their products. 

2. Strategic investments. We believe that the investments that we have made in our Renew Blue strategy to offer advice, 
service and convenience at competitive prices are driving successful results, as evidenced by (1) the market share 
gains we have achieved in the NPD-tracked categories; (2) our growth in appliances and mobile phones; and (3) the 
overall positive Domestic segment comparable sales and expanded operating income rate that we have delivered both 
last year and year-to-date this year.  

3. Competitive advantages. We believe we have three distinct competitive advantages that are helping us win with 
customers, are driving better financial results and are hard for competitors to replicate. The first competitive advantage 
is our ability to serve our customers online, in-store and in their home. We offer a digital shopping experience to our 
customers, online and in our new mobile app. We also have stores within 15 minutes of 70% of the U.S. population 
that not only provide advice, service and convenience to our in-store customers but also operate as local distribution 
centers to provide online customers with greater inventory availability and faster delivery. Through Geek Squad, we 
are able to provide an array of services to our customers remotely, in our stores and in their home. The second 
competitive advantage is our positioning in the marketplace which allows us to benefit from early adopters who 
choose Best Buy when new, exciting technology is released. Our strong merchandising and vendor partnerships allow 
us to showcase the best products more quickly and effectively than many of our competitors. Our third competitive 
advantage is our close vendor partnerships. Not only do we showcase the best of what our vendors offer, we are also 
benefiting from the material investments that several of the world’s leading technology companies are making in our 
stores. With these partnerships, we are able to bring to life interactive technology experiences that make the Best Buy 
operating model more relevant for customers. We believe the continued growth in our vendor partnerships 
demonstrates their value not only to our customers and Best Buy, but also to our vendor partners.

Update on our Fiscal 2016 Strategic Priorities

Services is a critical component to our strategy. We have significant service capabilities today, including our ability to assist 
customers in our stores, remotely and in their homes. We currently have approximately 20,000 Geek Squad agents and 
Magnolia system designers. We are proud of the services we offer, as they generate some of our highest NPS scores. However, 
two factors have negatively impacted our Services revenue: (1) the reduced frequency and severity of claims on our extended 
warranties, which had the impact of reducing repair revenue, which is actually beneficial both financially and operationally; and 
(2) the decline of our traditional extended warranty revenues, which we are addressing by materially renewing our service 
offerings to make them more compelling and price competitive.  

We are increasing our strategic investments in Services. There are several developments, which we believe demonstrate the 
continued evolution from a traditional extended warranty product offering to a range of value-added services that help address 
the needs of our customers.  

For example, in our computing and tablet service categories, beginning September 13, 2015, we expect to launch a range of 
services including Geek Squad Protect and Support Plus, which combines hardware support, 24/7 software support and 
accidental damage in one competitively priced plan. In addition, we are offering a range of classes to help customers take 
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advantage of their technology products, including in our digital imaging hubs, Samsung Experience Shops and in our Windows 
stores around the launch of Windows 10 in July 2015. 

In support of this strategy, we are investing in talent, systems and processes to further enhance the quality and scope of the 
services we deliver to our customers. We are also continuing to drive operational and cost efficiencies, which are resulting in 
reduced repair costs and a higher year-over-year gross profit rate.

From a Merchandising standpoint, in appliances, we have opened 35 of the 60 additional Pacific Kitchen & Home stores-
within-a-store planned for this year, increasing their presence to 152 of our stores. We also began the expansion of our Samsung 
appliance experiences and expect to complete approximately 225 Samsung Open Houses by the end of the year, which will be 
the largest dedicated in-store display of Samsung appliances in the U.S.  

In home theater, we have continued to solidify our position as the destination for customers to discover and interact with 
industry-leading home theater technology, particularly ultra-high definition or 4K televisions. We have expanded our Samsung 
Home Theater stores-within-a-store from 500 at launch to 603, and the Sony Home Theater stores-within-a-store from 350 at 
launch to 372. We have also completed 5 of the 20 planned Magnolia Design Center stores-within-a-store for this year, 
increasing their presence to 63 of our stores. As pricing of these technologies becomes even more affordable, we believe that we 
will continue to benefit from the customer moving to larger screen televisions and 4K technology.  

In computing, we believe we are optimally positioned to help customers transition to the new Windows 10 operating system 
that was introduced at the end of July 2015. We have a very large selection of laptops with Windows 10 already installed and a 
compelling in-store experience with our Windows stores-within-a-store. Today, we have over 600 of these in the U.S. and 
expect to have over 800 by Holiday. 

We have also been working with Apple to update the 740 stores-within-a-store that were first implemented in 2007. The stores-
within-a-store will have new Apple fixtures and are larger with more display tables for phones, computers and tablets. We have 
already implemented approximately 350 of them and expect to complete a total of approximately 520 by Holiday. The 
additional display tables are great for the merchandising of the new Apple Watch, which went on sale on Best Buy.com and in 
more than 100 of our stores in August. Because demand for Apple Watch has been so strong in these stores and online, we are 
excited to share that beginning September 4, 2015, we expect to be carrying the Apple Watch in more than 900 of our stores. 
We also expect the Apple Watch to be available in all our Best Buy stores and approximately 30 of our Best Buy Mobile stores 
by the end of September. 

As for our Online experience, we continued to leverage our ship-from-store, digital marketing, and enhanced website 
functionality to drive a 17.0% increase in our Domestic segment's comparable online sales during the second quarter of fiscal 
2016. This growth was driven by (1) a significantly increased number of our online customers who received and took advantage 
of our free, 2-day shipping promise enabled by enhancements to our ship-from-store capability and supply chain investments 
that are driving improved speed, convenience and reliability; (2) increased visibility of open box and clearance inventory; and 
(3) the expansion of online-only flash sales. 

We also launched several customer-facing site improvements including (1) expanded payment options for our customers 
through partnering with American Express to offer pay with points; (2) the ability to search and shop by brand; and (3) a 
significantly more relevant recommendation engine.

As part of our Renew Blue cost reduction and gross profit optimization program, which has a goal to reduce $400 million over 
the next three years, we eliminated $100 million in annualized costs. These savings will be offset, however, by the incremental 
investments in our future growth initiatives, which for this year, we expect to be approximately $120 million. To date, we have 
invested approximately $65 million to fund these initiatives, of which $35 million was in the second quarter. 

Fiscal 2016 Trends

As we enter the third quarter of fiscal 2016, it is difficult to know how certain macro-economic trends will affect overall 
consumer spending. To date, however, we have not seen a measurable impact versus our original expectation, so our outlook 
assumes that there will be no material changes in overall consumer spending in the third quarter of fiscal 2016.

Our year-over-year non-GAAP outlook for the third quarter of fiscal 2016 includes: (1) in the Domestic segment, flat to low-
single digit revenue growth; (2) an approximately flat Domestic segment operating income rate driven by a higher gross profit 
rate offset by increased SG&A due to inflation and growth-related investments; and (3) in the International segment, revenue 
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decline of approximately 30% and non-GAAP operating income rate in the range of negative 2.5% to negative 3.5%, due to the 
ongoing impacts of the Canadian brand consolidation and fluctuations in foreign currency.

With these expectations, which assume continued strength in our Domestic segment offset by the near-term impacts of the 
Canadian brand consolidation, we expect at the Enterprise level (1) a flat to negative low-single digit revenue growth rate and 
(2) an operating income rate growth of flat to negative 20 basis points. This includes an approximately 15 basis point negative 
year-over-year impact in the Domestic business due to an $11.5 million or $0.02 per share legal settlement that we received in 
the third quarter of fiscal 2015, which will not recur this year. Additionally, we expect the non-GAAP continuing operations 
effective income tax rate to be in the range of 39% to 40%, versus 38.1% last year, which could result in a negative $0.01 year-
over-year non-GAAP diluted EPS impact in the third quarter of fiscal 2016.

Results of Operations

In order to align our fiscal reporting periods and comply with statutory filing requirements, we consolidate the financial results 
of our Mexico operations on a one-month lag. Consistent with such consolidation, the financial and non-financial information 
presented in our MD&A relative to Mexico is also presented on a one-month lag. Our policy is to accelerate recording the effect 
of events occurring in the lag period that significantly affect our consolidated financial statements. There were no significant 
intervening events which would have materially affected our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or other factors 
had they been recorded during the three months ended August 1, 2015.

Discontinued Operations Presentation
 
Discontinued operations are comprised primarily of Five Star within our International segment. Unless otherwise stated, 
financial results discussed herein refer to continuing operations.

Domestic Segment Installment Billing Plans

In April 2014, we began to sell installment billing plans offered by mobile carriers to our customers to complement the more 
traditional two-year plans. While the two types of contracts have broadly similar overall economics, installment billing plans 
typically generate higher revenues due to higher proceeds for devices and higher cost of sales due to lower device subsidies. As 
we increase our mix of installment billing plans, there is an associated increase in revenue and cost of goods sold and a decrease 
in gross profit rate, with gross profit dollars relatively unaffected. We estimate that our second quarter of fiscal 2016 Enterprise 
and Domestic comparable sales of 3.8% include a 1.1% of revenue impact from this classification difference and that our first 
six months of fiscal 2016 Enterprise and Domestic comparable sales of 2.2% include a 1.2% of revenue impact from this 
classification difference.
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Consolidated Performance Summary

The following table presents selected consolidated financial data ($ in millions, except per share amounts):

 
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Revenue $ 8,528 $ 8,459 $ 17,086 $ 17,098
Revenue % gain (decline) 0.8% (3.1)% (0.1)% (3.2)%
Comparable sales % gain (decline)(1) 3.8% (2.2)% 2.2 % (2.0)%
Comparable sales % gain (decline), excluding estimated 
impact of installment billing(1)(2) 2.7% (2.2)% 1.0 % (2.0)%
Restructuring charges – cost of goods sold $ (3) $ — $ 5 $ —
Gross profit $ 2,098 $ 1,978 $ 4,128 $ 3,945
Gross profit as a % of revenue(3) 24.6% 23.4 % 24.2 % 23.1 %
SG&A $ 1,811 $ 1,748 $ 3,577 $ 3,503
SG&A as a % of revenue(3) 21.2% 20.7 % 20.9 % 20.5 %
Restructuring charges $ (1) $ 5 $ 177 $ 7
Operating income $ 288 $ 225 $ 374 $ 435
Operating income as a % of revenue 3.4% 2.7 % 2.2 % 2.5 %
Net earnings from continuing operations $ 164 $ 137 $ 201 $ 606
Earnings from discontinued operations $ — $ 9 $ 92 $ 1
Net earnings attributable to Best Buy Co., Inc. shareholders $ 164 $ 146 $ 293 $ 607
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.46 $ 0.39 $ 0.57 $ 1.73
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.46 $ 0.42 $ 0.82 $ 1.73

(1) Enterprise comparable sales for the second quarter of fiscal 2015 includes revenue from our International segment. Excluding the International segment, 
Enterprise comparable sales would have been (2.0)% and (1.6)% for the three and six months ended August 2, 2014, respectively, i.e., equal to Domestic 
segment comparable sales.

(2) Represents comparable sales excluding the estimated 1.1% and 1.2% of revenue benefit from installment billing in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 and 
the first six months of fiscal 2016, respectively.

(3) Because retailers vary in how they record costs of operating their supply chain between cost of goods sold and SG&A, our gross profit rate and SG&A 
rate may not be comparable to other retailers’ corresponding rates. For additional information regarding costs classified in cost of goods sold and SG&A, 
refer to Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015.

 
The components of the 0.8% revenue increase for the second quarter of fiscal 2016 and the 0.1% decrease for the first six 
months of fiscal 2016 were as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
August 1, 2015 August 1, 2015

Comparable sales impact 3.3 % 1.9 %
Non-comparable sales(1) (1.3)% (0.9)%
Impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations (1.2)% (1.1)%

Total revenue increase (decrease) 0.8 % (0.1)%

(1) Non-comparable sales reflects the impact of net store opening and closing activity, including the Canadian brand consolidation activity, as well as the 
impact of revenue streams not included within our comparable sales calculation, such as credit card revenue, gift card breakage, commercial sales and 
sales of merchandise to wholesalers and dealers.

The gross profit rate increased by 1.2% of revenue in the second quarter of fiscal 2016. Gross profit rate increases in our 
Domestic and International segments accounted for an increase of 1.1% and 0.1%, respectively. For the first six months of 
fiscal 2016, the gross profit rate increased by 1.1% of revenue. Our Domestic segment accounted for an increase in our gross 
profit rate of 1.2% of revenue, and our International segment accounted for a decrease in our gross profit rate of 0.1% of 
revenue. For further discussion of each segment’s gross profit rate changes, see Segment Performance Summary below.

The SG&A rate increased by 0.5% of revenue in the second quarter of fiscal 2016. The Domestic segment accounted for a 
majority of the increase. The SG&A rate for the first six months of fiscal 2016 increased 0.4% of revenue with the Domestic 
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segment driving the increase. For further discussion of each segment’s SG&A rate changes, see Segment Performance Summary 
below.

For the first six months of fiscal 2016, we recorded $182 million of restructuring charges, of which our Domestic segment 
recorded a benefit of $1 million and our International segment recorded a charge of $183 million, which included $5 million of 
write-downs recorded in restructuring charges – cost of goods sold. The restructuring charges recorded in the first six months of 
fiscal 2016 resulted in a decrease in our operating income rate of 1.1% of revenue. We recorded $7 million of restructuring 
charges in the first six months of fiscal 2015, which had no impact on our operating income rate. For further discussion of each 
segment’s restructuring charges, see Segment Performance Summary below.

Operating income increased $63 million and our operating income rate increased to 3.4% of revenue in the second quarter of 
fiscal 2016, compared to 2.7% of revenue in the second quarter of fiscal 2015. The increase in operating income was primarily 
due to the increase in gross profit driven by our Domestic segment, which was partially offset by an increase in SG&A 
expenses driven by investments in future growth initiatives, SG&A inflation and higher compensation in the second quarter of 
fiscal 2016. For the first six months of fiscal 2016, operating income decreased 14.0% to $374 million or, as a percentage of 
revenue, to 2.2% compared to 2.5% of revenue in the first six months of fiscal 2015. The decrease in operating income was 
primarily due to the increase in restructuring charges, which was a result of our Canadian brand consolidation. These decreases 
were partially offset by an increase in gross profit and the $75 million of CRT settlements net of legal expenses and costs in the 
first six months of fiscal 2016.

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

Income tax expense increased to $108 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 compared to $73 million in the prior-year 
period, primarily as a result of an increase in pre-tax earnings. Our effective income tax rate in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 
was 39.8% compared to a rate of 34.8% in the second quarter of fiscal 2015. The increase in the effective income tax rate was 
primarily due to the resolution of certain tax matters in the prior-year period and forecasted taxable losses from foreign 
operations in the current year period.

Income tax increased to an expense of $146 million in the first six months of fiscal 2016 compared to a benefit of $205 million 
in the prior-year period, primarily due to a $353 million discrete benefit related to reorganizing certain European legal entities 
in the prior-year period. Our effective income tax rate for the first six months of fiscal 2016 was 42.1%, compared to a rate of 
(51.3)% in the first six months of fiscal 2015. Excluding the impact of the European legal entity reorganization, the effective 
tax rate would have been 36.8%. The increase in the effective income tax rate was primarily due to the discrete benefit related 
to the reorganization mentioned above, as well as the resolution of certain tax matters in the prior-year period and forecasted 
taxable losses from foreign operations in the current year period. Refer to Note 11, Income Taxes, in the Notes to Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Our tax provision for interim periods is determined using an estimate of our annual effective tax rate, adjusted for discrete 
items, if any, that are taken into account in the relevant period. We update our estimate of the annual effective tax rate each 
quarter, and we make a cumulative adjustment if our estimated tax rate changes. These interim estimates are subject to variation 
due to several factors, including our ability to accurately forecast our pre-tax and taxable income and loss by jurisdiction, tax 
audit developments, changes in laws or regulations, and expenses or losses for which tax benefits are not recognized. Our 
effective tax rate can be more or less volatile based on the amount of pre-tax income. For example, the impact of discrete items 
and non-deductible losses on our effective tax rate is greater when our pre-tax income is lower.

In addition, our consolidated effective tax rate is impacted by the statutory income tax rates applicable to each of the 
jurisdictions in which we operate. As our foreign earnings are generally taxed at lower statutory rates than the 35% U.S. 
statutory rate, changes in the proportion of our consolidated taxable earnings originating in foreign jurisdictions impact our 
consolidated effective rate. Our foreign earnings have been indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. and are not subject to 
current U.S. income tax.

Discontinued Operations

We recognized no earnings from discontinued operations in the second quarter of fiscal 2016. For the first six months of fiscal 
2016, we recognized $92 million of earnings from discontinued operations, which was primarily due to a $99 million gain on 
the sale of our Five Star business in China. We recognized a $9 million benefit and a $1 million benefit from discontinued 
operations in the second quarter of fiscal 2015 and for the first six months of fiscal 2015, respectively, related to the sale of our 
Five Star business in China. Refer to Note 2, Discontinued Operations, in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements for additional information.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The following table reconciles operating income, net earnings, and diluted earnings per share for the periods presented from 
continuing operations (GAAP financial measures) to non-GAAP operating income, non-GAAP net earnings, and non-GAAP 
diluted earnings per share from continuing operations for the periods presented ($ in millions, except per share amounts).

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Operating income $ 288 $ 225 $ 374 $ 435
Net CRT settlements(1) (8) — (75) —
Restructuring charges – cost of goods sold (3) — 5 —
Other Canadian brand consolidation charges(2) 2 — 5 —
Non-restructuring asset impairments 14 12 25 21
Restructuring charges (1) 5 177 7

Non-GAAP operating income $ 292 $ 242 $ 511 $ 463

Net earnings from continuing operations $ 164 $ 137 $ 201 $ 606
After-tax impact of net CRT settlements(1) (9) — (53) —
After-tax impact of restructuring charges - cost of goods
sold (1) — 4 —
After-tax impact of other Canadian brand consolidation 
charges(2) 1 — 3 —
After-tax impact of non-restructuring asset impairments 11 8 18 14
After-tax impact of restructuring charges 8 4 133 5
After-tax impact of gain on sale of investments — (1) (1) (1)
Income tax impact of Europe legal entity reorganization(3) — — — (353)

Non-GAAP net earnings from continuing operations $ 174 $ 148 $ 305 $ 271

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.46 $ 0.39 $ 0.57 $ 1.73
Per share impact of net CRT settlements(1) (0.03) — (0.15) —
Per share impact of restructuring charges - cost of goods
sold — — 0.01 —
Per share impact of other Canadian brand consolidation 
charges(2) — — 0.01 —
Per share impact of non-restructuring asset impairments 0.03 0.02 0.05 0.04
Per share impact of restructuring charges 0.03 0.01 0.37 0.01
Per share impact of gain on sale of investments — — — —
Per share income tax effect of Europe legal entity 

reorganization(3) — — — (1.01)
Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share from continuing

operations $ 0.49 $ 0.42 $ 0.86 $ 0.77

(1) Represents $10 million of CRT litigation settlements reached in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 and recorded in cost of goods sold, net of $2 million of 
related legal fees and costs recorded in SG&A in the second quarter of fiscal 2016. For the first six months of fiscal 2016, represents $88 million of CRT 
litigation settlements reached and recorded in cost of goods sold, net of $13 million of related legal fees and costs recorded in SG&A.

(2) Represents charges related to the Canadian brand consolidation, primarily retention expenses and other store-related costs that did not qualify as 
restructuring charges.

(3) Represents the acceleration of a non-cash tax benefit of $353 million as a result of reorganizing certain European legal entities to simplify our overall 
structure in the first quarter of fiscal 2015.

Non-GAAP operating income increased $50 million, to 3.4% of revenue, in the second quarter of fiscal 2016, and $48 million, 
to 3.0% of revenue, in the first six months of fiscal 2016. The increase in both periods was driven by an improvement in our 
Domestic segment related to an increase in gross profit. The increase in operating income resulted in a year-over-year increase 
in non-GAAP net earnings from continuing operations and non-GAAP diluted earnings per share from continuing operations in 
the second quarter and first six months of fiscal 2016.
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Segment Performance Summary

Domestic

Domestic segment revenue of $7.9 billion in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 increased 3.9% compared to the prior year. This 
increase was primarily driven by (1) a comparable sales increase of 2.7%, excluding the estimated benefit associated with the 
classification of revenue for the mobile carrier installment billing plans, (2) an estimated 1.1% of revenue benefit associated 
with installment billing; and (3) a periodic profit sharing payment based on the performance of our externally managed 
extended service plan portfolio and an extended warranty deferred revenue adjustment.

Domestic segment online revenue of $676 million increased 17.0% on a comparable basis primarily due to increased traffic and 
higher conversion rates. As a percentage of total Domestic revenue, online revenue increased 90 basis points to 8.6% versus 
7.7% last year.

The following table presents selected financial data for the Domestic segment ($ in millions):

 
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Revenue $ 7,878 $ 7,585 $ 15,768 $ 15,366
Revenue % gain (decline) 3.9% (2.4)% 2.6% (2.3)%
Comparable sales % gain (decline)(1) 3.8% (2.0)% 2.2% (1.6)%
Comparable sales % gain (decline) excluding estimated 
impact of installment billing(1)(2) 2.7% (2.0)% 1.0% (1.6)%
Gross profit $ 1,946 $ 1,778 $ 3,832 $ 3,541
Gross profit as a % of revenue 24.7% 23.4 % 24.3% 23.0 %
SG&A $ 1,636 $ 1,521 $ 3,220 $ 3,056
SG&A as a % of revenue 20.8% 20.1 % 20.4% 19.9 %
Restructuring charges $ 1 $ (1) $ (1) $ 1
Operating income $ 309 $ 258 $ 613 $ 484
Operating income as a % of revenue 3.9% 3.4 % 3.9% 3.1 %

Selected Online Revenue Data
Online revenue as a % of total segment revenue 8.6% 7.7 % 8.6% 7.9 %
Comparable online sales % gain(1) 17.0% 22.0 % 10.8% 25.7 %

(1) Comparable online sales is included in the comparable sales calculation.

(2) Represents comparable sales excluding the estimated 1.1% and 1.2% of revenue benefit from installment billing in the second quarter and the first six 
months of fiscal 2016, respectively.

The components of our Domestic segment's 3.9% and 2.6% revenue increases for the second quarter and first six months of 
fiscal 2016, respectively, were as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
August 1, 2015 August 1, 2015

Comparable sales impact 3.7% 2.1%
Non-comparable sales(1) 0.2% 0.5%

Total revenue increase 3.9% 2.6%  
(1) Non-comparable sales reflects the impact of net store opening and closing activity, as well as the impact of revenue streams not included within our 

comparable sales calculation, such as credit card revenue, gift card breakage, commercial sales, and sales of merchandise to wholesalers and dealers.
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The following table reconciles the number of Domestic stores open at the beginning and end of the second quarters of fiscal 
2016 and 2015:

 
Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

 

Total Stores at
Beginning of

Second Quarter
Stores

Opened
Stores
Closed

Total Stores at
End of Second

Quarter

Total Stores at
Beginning of

Second Quarter
Stores

Opened
Stores
Closed

Total Stores at
End of Second

Quarter

Best Buy 1,049 — (2) 1,047 1,053 — — 1,053

Best Buy Mobile stand-alone 362 — (6) 356 406 — (15) 391

Pacific Sales stand-alone 29 — — 29 30 — (1) 29

Magnolia Audio Video stand-alone 2 — (1) 1 4 — — 4

Total Domestic segment stores 1,442 — (9) 1,433 1,493 — (16) 1,477

The following table presents the Domestic segment’s revenue mix percentages and comparable sales percentage changes by 
revenue category in the second quarters of fiscal 2016 and 2015:

 
Revenue Mix Comparable Sales

 
Three Months Ended Three Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Consumer Electronics 32% 31% 7.3 % 0.2 %
Computing and Mobile Phones 47% 47% 1.5 % (5.9)%
Entertainment 6% 6% (2.0)% 16.1 %
Appliances 10% 9% 20.7 % 8.2 %
Services 5% 6% (13.1)% (8.9)%
Other <1% 1% n/a n/a
Total 100% 100% 3.8 % (2.0)%  

The following is a description of the notable comparable sales changes in our Domestic segment by revenue category:

• Consumer Electronics: The 7.3% comparable sales gain was driven primarily by an increase in the sales of large 
screen televisions. 

• Computing and Mobile Phones: The 1.5% comparable sales gain primarily resulted from sales of mobile phones due 
to the impact of installment billing plans and higher year-over-year selling prices. This gain is partially offset by the 
continued industry softness in tablets. 

• Entertainment: The 2.0% comparable sales decline was driven by declines in movies and music due to continued 
industry declines, partially offset by a slight gain in gaming due to successful promotions. 

• Appliances: The 20.7% comparable sales gain was a result of gains in major appliances primarily driven by the 
addition of Pacific Kitchen & Home stores-within-a-store and effective promotional events. 

• Services: The 13.1% comparable sales decline was primarily driven by the reduction of frequency and severity of 
claims on our extended warranties, which has reduced our repair revenue, and to a much lesser extent, declining attach 
rates.

Our Domestic segment experienced an increase in gross profit of $168 million, or 9.4%, in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 
compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2015. Excluding the CRT litigation settlements of $10 million received in the second 
quarter of fiscal 2016, we experienced an increase in gross profit of $158 million, and the gross profit rate increased 1.2% of 
revenue. The rate increase was primarily due to (1) the positive impact of changes in mobile warranty plans which resulted in 
lower costs due to lower claim frequency and severity; (2) rate improvements in computing hardware; (3) an increased mix of 
higher-margin large screen televisions; (4) the periodic profit sharing payment based on the performance of our externally 
managed extended service plan portfolio and an extended warranty deferred revenue adjustment; and (5) an additional positive 
mix shift due to significantly decreased revenue in the lower-margin tablet category. These increases were partially offset by a 
lower rate in the mobile category driven by increased sales of higher priced iconic mobile phones, which have higher gross 
profit dollars but carry a lower gross profit rate.

For the first six months of fiscal 2016, our Domestic segment experienced an increase in gross profit of $291 million, or 8.2%, 
compared to the prior-year period. A driver of the increase was $88 million of CRT litigation settlements received in the first six 
months of fiscal 2016. Excluding the CRT litigation settlements, we experienced an increase in gross profit of $203 million, and 
the gross profit rate increased 0.7% of revenue. The rate increase was primarily due to (1) the positive impact of changes in 
mobile warranty plans which resulted in lower costs due to lower claim frequency and severity; (2) rate improvements in 
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computing hardware; (3) an additional positive mix shift due to significantly decreased revenue in the lower-margin tablet 
category; (4) positive revenue impact related to our credit card portfolio; (5) the periodic profit sharing payment based on the 
performance of our externally managed extended service plan portfolio and an extended warranty deferred revenue adjustment; 
and (6) an increased mix of higher-margin large screen televisions. These increases were partially offset by a lower rate in the 
mobile category driven by increased sales of higher priced iconic mobile phones, which have higher gross profit dollars but 
carry a lower gross profit rate, and lower rates related to major appliances.

Our Domestic segment’s SG&A increased $115 million, or 7.6%, in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 compared to the prior-
year period. For the first six months of fiscal 2016, our Domestic segment's SG&A increased $164 million, or 5.4%, compared 
to the prior-year period. In addition, the SG&A rate increased by 0.7% and 0.5% of revenue in the second quarter and first six 
months of fiscal 2016, respectively, compared to the prior-year period. The increases in SG&A and SG&A rate were primarily 
driven by increased costs to support the investments in future growth initiatives, SG&A inflation and higher incentive 
compensation.

Our Domestic segment operating income in the second quarter and first six months of fiscal 2016 increased by $51 million and 
$129 million, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. The increase in both periods was primarily due to an 
increase in gross profit, partially offset by higher SG&A expenses, as described above. In addition, the year-over-year increase 
for the first six months of fiscal 2016 was impacted by the $75 million of net proceeds from CRT litigation settlements 
received.

International

During the first quarter of fiscal 2016, we consolidated the Future Shop and Best Buy stores and websites in Canada under the 
Best Buy brand. This resulted in the permanent closure of 66 Future Shop stores and the conversion of the remaining 65 Future 
Shop stores to the Best Buy brand. The costs of implementing these changes primarily consist of lease exit costs, a tradename 
impairment, property and equipment impairments, employee termination benefits and inventory write-downs. In the first six 
months of fiscal 2016, we incurred total pre-tax restructuring charges, other Canadian brand consolidation charges and property 
and equipment impairments of $192 million out of the previously disclosed expectation of approximately $200 million to $280 
million related to the actions. We expect to incur the additional charges of $10 million to $90 million in future periods primarily 
related to non-restructuring asset impairments as we continue to invest in the Canadian transformation.

The following table presents selected financial data for the International segment ($ in millions):

 
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014 August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Revenue $ 650 $ 874 $ 1,318 $ 1,732
Revenue % decline (25.6)% (8.9)% (23.9)% (10.8)%
Comparable sales % decline(1) n/a (3.8)% n/a (5.2)%
Restructuring charges – cost of goods sold $ (3) $ — $ 5 $ —
Gross profit $ 152 $ 200 $ 296 $ 404
Gross profit as a % of revenue 23.4 % 22.9 % 22.5 % 23.3 %
SG&A $ 175 $ 227 $ 357 $ 447
SG&A as a % of revenue 26.9 % 26.0 % 27.1 % 25.8 %
Restructuring charges $ (2) $ 6 $ 178 $ 6
Operating loss $ (21) $ (33) $ (239) $ (49)
Operating loss as a % of revenue (3.2)% (3.8)% (18.1)% (2.8)%

(1) The consolidation is expected to have a material impact on a year-over-year basis on the Canadian retail stores and the website. As such, beginning in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2016, all store and website revenue has been removed from the comparable sales base and an International segment (comprised of 
Canada and Mexico) comparable sales metric will not be provided.
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The components of our International segment's 25.6% and 23.9% revenue decrease for the second quarter and first six months 
of fiscal 2016, respectively, were as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
August 1, 2015 August 1, 2015

Non-comparable sales(1) (14.0)% (13.0)%
Impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations (11.6)% (10.9)%

Total revenue decrease (25.6)% (23.9)%  
(1) Non-comparable sales reflects the impact of net store opening and closing activity, including the Canadian brand consolidation activity, as well as the 

impact of revenue streams not included within our comparable sales calculation, such as credit card revenue, gift card breakage, commercial sales, and 
sales of merchandise to wholesalers and dealers.

The following table reconciles the number of International stores open at the beginning and end of the second quarters of fiscal 
2016 and 2015:

 
Fiscal 2016 Fiscal 2015

 

Total Stores at
Beginning of

Second
Quarter

Stores
Opened

Stores
Converted

Stores
Closed

Total Stores at
End of Second

Quarter

Total Stores at
Beginning of

Second
Quarter

Stores
Opened

Stores
Closed

Total Stores at
End of Second

Quarter

Canada    

Future Shop — — — — — 137 — (2) 135

Best Buy 136 — — — 136 72 — — 72

Best Buy Mobile stand-alone 56 — — — 56 56 — — 56

Mexico    

Best Buy 18 — — — 18 17 — — 17

Express 5 — — — 5 2 — — 2
Total International segment
stores 215 — — — 215 284 — (2) 282  

The following table presents revenue mix percentages for the International segment by revenue category in the second quarters 
of fiscal 2016 and 2015:

 
Revenue Mix

 
Three Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Consumer Electronics 31% 31%
Computing and Mobile Phones 48% 49%
Entertainment 7% 7%
Appliances 7% 6%
Services 6% 6%
Other 1% 1%
Total 100% 100%  

In our International segment, revenue declined 25.6% to $650 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 due to (1) the loss of 
revenue from the Canadian brand consolidation; (2) a negative foreign currency impact of 11.6% of revenue; and (3) ongoing 
softness in the Canadian consumer electronics industry.

Our International segment experienced a decrease in gross profit of $48 million, or 24.0%, in the second quarter of fiscal 2016, 
compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2015. Excluding the impact of inventory write-down adjustments as a result of our 
Canadian brand consolidation, gross profit declined $51 million and the gross profit rate was flat compared to the prior-year 
period. For the first six months in fiscal 2016, our International segment gross profit decreased $108 million, or 26.7%, 
compared to the first six months of fiscal 2015. Excluding the impact of inventory write-downs as a result of our Canadian 
brand consolidation, gross profit declined $103 million and the gross profit rate decreased by 0.5% of revenue compared to the 
prior-year period. The gross profit rate decline was primarily due to the disruptive impacts from the Canadian brand 
consolidation and increased promotional activity in Canada.
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Our International segment’s SG&A decreased $52 million, or 22.9%, in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 compared to the prior-
year period. For the first six months of fiscal 2016, our International segment's SG&A decreased $90 million, or 20.1%, 
compared to the prior-year period. The decrease in SG&A for both periods was primarily driven by the elimination of expenses 
associated with closed stores as part of the Canadian brand consolidation and the impact of foreign exchange rates. The increase 
in the SG&A rate of 0.9% and 1.3% of revenue in the second quarter and the first six months of fiscal 2016, respectively, was 
driven by year-over-year sales deleverage.

Our International segment recorded a benefit of $5 million and a charge of $183 million related to restructuring in the second 
quarter and first six months of fiscal 2016. The benefit in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 included a benefit of $3 million 
related to better than expected recoveries on previously marked down inventory, while the charge in the first six months of 
fiscal 2016 included $5 million of inventory write-downs, both of which are included in restructuring charges – cost of goods 
sold. The restructuring charges were driven by our Canadian brand consolidation activities and resulted in a decrease in 
operating income of 13.9% of revenue for the first six months of fiscal 2016. Our International segment recorded $6 million of 
restructuring charges in the second quarter and for the first six months of fiscal 2015. Refer to Note 5, Restructuring Charges, 
in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Our International segment experienced an operating loss of $21 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 compared to an 
operating loss of $33 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2015. The decreased operating loss was primarily due to lower 
restructuring charges, as described above. For the first six months of fiscal 2016, our International segment incurred an 
operating loss of $239 million compared to an operating loss of $49 million for the prior-year period. This increase in the 
operating loss was due to the Canadian brand consolidation, which resulted in increased restructuring charges and decreased 
revenue and gross profit from closed stores.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Summary

We closely manage our liquidity and capital resources. Our liquidity requirements depend on key variables, including the level 
of investment to support our business strategies, the performance of our business, capital expenditures, credit facilities and 
short-term borrowing arrangements and working capital management. Capital expenditures are a component of our cash flow 
and capital management strategy which, to a large extent, we can adjust in response to economic and other changes in our 
business environment. We have a disciplined approach to capital allocation, which focuses on investing in key priorities that 
support our Renew Blue transformation.

The following table summarizes our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments balances at August 1, 2015, 
January 31, 2015, and August 2, 2014 ($ in millions):

 
August 1, 2015 January 31, 2015 August 2, 2014

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,800 $ 2,432 $ 2,141
Short-term investments 1,695 1,456 939
Total cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 3,495 $ 3,888 $ 3,080

The increase in total cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments from August 2, 2014, was primarily due to cash 
generated from operating activities, partially offset by repurchases of common stock and dividend payments. The decrease in 
total cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments from January 31, 2015, was primarily due to common stock 
repurchases and dividend payments, partially offset by cash generated from operating activities.
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Cash Flows
 
The following table summarizes our cash flows from total operations for the first six months of fiscal 2016 and 2015 ($ in 
millions):

 
Six Months Ended

 
August 1, 2015 August 2, 2014

Total cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 308 $ 487
Investing activities (478) (907)
Financing activities (640) (114)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (16) (3)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ (826) $ (537)
 
The decrease in cash provided by operating activities in the first six months of fiscal 2016 compared to the prior-year period 
was primarily due to the timing of vendor and tax payments, which resulted in a larger cash outflow in the first six months of 
fiscal 2016.

The decrease in cash used in investing activities in the first six months of fiscal 2016 compared to the prior-year period is 
primarily due to an increase in sales of short-term investments.

The increase in cash used in financing activities in the first six months of fiscal 2016 compared to the prior-year period was 
primarily due to resuming our share repurchase program and increased dividend payments.

Sources of Liquidity

Funds generated by operating activities, available cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and our credit facilities are 
our most significant sources of liquidity. We believe our sources of liquidity will be sufficient to sustain operations and to 
finance anticipated capital investments and strategic initiatives. However, in the event our liquidity is insufficient, we may be 
required to limit our spending. There can be no assurance that we will continue to generate cash flows at or above current levels 
or that we will be able to maintain our ability to borrow under our existing credit facilities or obtain additional financing, if 
necessary, on favorable terms.

We have a $1.25 billion five-year senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the "Five-Year Facility Agreement") with a 
syndicate of banks that expires in June 2019. At August 1, 2015, we had no borrowings outstanding under the Five-Year 
Facility Agreement. 

Refer to Note 5, Debt, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015 for further information 
about the Five-Year Facility Agreement.

Our ability to access our revolving credit facility under the Five-Year Facility Agreement is subject to our compliance with the 
terms and conditions of the facility, including financial covenants. The financial covenants require us to maintain certain 
financial ratios. At August 1, 2015, we were in compliance with all such financial covenants. If an event of default were to 
occur with respect to any of our other debt, it would likely constitute an event of default under our facilities as well.

Subsequent to the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2016, our credit ratings and outlooks were updated as summarized below. 
On August 10, 2015, Standard & Poor's Rating Services ("Standard & Poor's") upgraded its long-term credit rating from BB to 
BB+ with a Stable outlook. On August 24, 2015, Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") upgraded its long-term credit 
rating from Baa2 to Baa1 with a Stable outlook. On August 26, 2015, Fitch Ratings Limited ("Fitch") upgraded its long-term 
credit rating from BB to BBB- with a Stable outlook.

Rating Agency Rating Outlook

Standard & Poor's BB+ Stable
Moody's Baa1 Stable
Fitch BBB- Stable
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Credit rating agencies review their ratings periodically and, therefore, the credit rating assigned to us by each agency may be 
subject to revision at any time. Accordingly, we are not able to predict whether our current credit ratings will remain as 
disclosed above. Factors that can affect our credit ratings include changes in our operating performance, the economic 
environment, conditions in the retail and consumer electronics industries, our financial position and changes in our business 
strategy. If further changes in our credit ratings were to occur, they could impact, among other things, interest costs for certain 
of our credit facilities, our future borrowing costs, access to capital markets, vendor financing terms and future new-store 
leasing costs. 

Restricted Cash
 
Our liquidity is affected by restricted cash balances that are pledged as collateral or restricted to use for general liability 
insurance and workers’ compensation insurance. Restricted cash and cash equivalents related to our continuing operations, 
which are included in other current assets, remained consistent at $184 million, $184 million, and $182 million at August 1, 
2015, January 31, 2015, and August 2, 2014, respectively. 

Debt and Capital
 
We have $350 million principal amount of notes due March 15, 2016, $500 million principal amount of notes due August 1, 
2018 and $650 million principal amount of notes due March 15, 2021. Refer to Note 5, Debt, of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015 for further information about our Notes.

Share Repurchases and Dividends
 
We have a $5.0 billion share repurchase program that was authorized by our Board in June 2011. At February 1, 2015, there 
was $4.0 billion available for share repurchases. There is no expiration date governing the period over which we can repurchase 
shares under the June 2011 share repurchase program. 

On March 3, 2015, we announced that we plan to resume share repurchases under the June 2011 program, with the intent to 
purchase $1.0 billion in shares in the three years following the announcement. For the six months ended August 1, 2015 we 
repurchased 9.5 million shares at a cost of $324 million. At August 1, 2015, $3.7 billion remained available for additional 
purchases under the June 2011 program. There were no shares repurchased during the six months ended August 2, 2014.  
Repurchased shares are retired and constitute authorized, but unissued shares. 

During the second quarters of fiscal 2016 and 2015, we declared and paid our regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.23 and 
$0.17 per common share, or $81 million and $59 million in the aggregate, respectively. In the first quarter of fiscal 2016, we 
also paid a special, one-time dividend of $0.51 per common share, or $180 million in the aggregate. As announced on 
August 26, 2015, our Board of Directors authorized payment of our next regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.23 per common 
share, payable on October 6, 2015, to shareholders of record as of the close of business on September 15, 2015.

Other Financial Measures
 
Our current ratio, calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities, stayed flat at 1.5 at the end of the second quarter of 
fiscal 2016, compared to 1.5 at the end of fiscal 2015 and 1.5 at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2015.
 
Our debt to net earnings ratio was 1.9 at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2016, compared to 1.3 at the end of fiscal 2015, 
and 1.7 at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2015, driven primarily by the decrease in net earnings in the trailing twelve 
months primarily due to a $353 million discrete tax benefit from reorganizing certain European legal entities in the first quarter 
of fiscal 2015. Our non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio, which includes capitalized operating lease obligations in its calculation, 
decreased slightly to 2.7 at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2016, compared to 2.8 at the end of fiscal 2015. The decrease 
compared to the ratio of 3.1 at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2015 was due to higher EBITDAR in the first and second 
quarters of fiscal 2016.
 
Our non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio is considered a non-GAAP financial measure and should be considered in addition to, 
rather than as a substitute for, the most directly comparable ratio determined in accordance with GAAP. We have included this 
information in our MD&A as we view the non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio as an important indicator of our creditworthiness. 
Furthermore, we believe that our non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio is important for understanding our financial position and 
provides meaningful additional information about our ability to service our long-term debt and other fixed obligations and to 
fund our future growth. We also believe our non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio is relevant because it enables investors to 
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compare our indebtedness to that of retailers who own, rather than lease, their stores. Our decision to own or lease real estate is 
based on an assessment of our financial liquidity, our capital structure, our desire to own or to lease the location, the owner’s 
desire to own or to lease the location, and the alternative that results in the highest return to our shareholders.
 
Our non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio is calculated as follows:
 

Non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR =
Non-GAAP debt

 

EBITDAR
 

 
The most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to our non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio is our debt to net earnings 
ratio, which excludes capitalized operating lease obligations from debt in the numerator of the calculation and does not adjust 
net earnings in the denominator of the calculation.

The following table presents a reconciliation of our debt to net earnings (loss) ratio and our non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio 
for continuing operations ($ in millions):

 
August 1, 2015(1) January 31, 2015(1) August 2, 2014(1)

Debt (including current portion) $ 1,609 $ 1,621 $ 1,635
Capitalized operating lease obligations (8 times rental expense)(2) 6,447 6,653 6,724
Non-GAAP debt $ 8,056 $ 8,274 $ 8,359

Net earnings including noncontrolling interests(3) $ 841 $ 1,246 $ 956
Interest expense, net 56 63 62
Income tax (benefit) expense 492 141 (31)
Depreciation and amortization expense 655 642 626
Rental expense 806 832 841
Restructuring charges and other(4) 151 47 240
EBITDAR $ 3,001 $ 2,971 $ 2,694

Debt to net earnings ratio 1.9 1.3 1.7
Non-GAAP debt to EBITDAR ratio 2.7 2.8 3.1

(1) Debt is reflected as of the balance sheet dates for each of the respective fiscal periods, while rental expense and the other components of EBITDAR 
represent activity for the 12 months ended as of each of the respective dates.

(2) The multiple of eight times annual rental expense in the calculation of our capitalized operating lease obligations is the multiple used for the retail sector 
by one of the nationally recognized credit rating agencies that rate our creditworthiness, and we consider it to be an appropriate multiple for our lease 
portfolio.

(3) We utilize net earnings including noncontrolling interests within our calculation; as such, net earnings and related cash flows attributable to 
noncontrolling interests are available to service our debt and operating lease commitments.

(4) Includes the impact of restructuring charges, non-restructuring asset impairments and CRT-related litigation settlements.
 
Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations
 
Our liquidity is not dependent on the use of off-balance-sheet financing arrangements other than in connection with our 
operating leases.
 
There has been no material change in our contractual obligations other than as described above and in the ordinary course of 
business since the end of fiscal 2015. See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015 for 
additional information regarding our off-balance-sheet arrangements and contractual obligations.
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Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
 
We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015. We 
discuss our critical accounting estimates in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015. There has been no significant 
change in our significant accounting policies or critical accounting estimates since the end of fiscal 2015.

New Accounting Pronouncements
 
In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-08, 
Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Components of an Entity. The new guidance amends the definition of a 
discontinued operation and requires new disclosures of both discontinued operations and certain other disposals that do not 
meet the definition of a discontinued operation. We adopted the new guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2016, and the 
adoption of the new guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as a new Topic, Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) Topic 606. The new guidance provides a comprehensive framework for the analysis of revenue transactions 
and will apply to all of our revenue streams. Based on the current effective dates, the new guidance would first apply in the first 
quarter of our fiscal 2019. While we are still in the process of evaluating the effect of adoption on our financial statements, we 
do not currently expect a material impact on our results of operations, cash flows or financial position. 

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs. The new guidance aligns 
the treatment of debt issuance costs with the treatment of debt discounts, so that the debt issuance costs will be presented on the 
balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability. Based on the current effective dates, the new 
guidance would first apply in the first quarter of our fiscal 2017. We do not currently expect a material impact on our results of 
operations, cash flows or financial position. 

Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
 
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), provide a “safe harbor” for forward-looking statements to encourage companies to 
provide prospective information about their companies. With the exception of historical information, the matters discussed in 
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements and may be identified by the use of words such as 
"anticipate," "assume," "believe," "estimate," "expect," “guidance,” "intend," "outlook," "plan," "project," and other words and 
terms of similar meaning. Such statements reflect our current view with respect to future market conditions, company 
performance and financial results, business prospects, new strategies, the competitive environment and other events. These 
statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the potential 
results discussed in such forward-looking statements. Readers should review Item 1A, Risk Factors, of our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015, for a description of important factors that could cause our actual results 
to differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 
Among the factors that could cause actual results and outcomes to differ materially from those contained in such forward-
looking statements are the following: macro-economic conditions (including fluctuations in housing prices, oil markets and 
jobless rates), conditions in the industries and categories in which we operate, changes in consumer preferences, changes in 
consumer confidence, consumer spending and debt levels, online sales levels and trends, average ticket size, the mix of 
products and services offered for sale in our physical stores and online, credit market changes and constraints, product 
availability, competitive initiatives of competitors (including pricing actions and promotional activities of competitors), 
strategic and business decisions of our vendors (including actions that could impact product margin or supply), the success of 
new product launches, the impact of pricing investments and promotional activity, weather, natural or man-made disasters, 
attacks on our data systems, our ability to prevent or react to a disaster recovery situation, changes in law or regulations, 
changes in tax rates, changes in taxable income in each jurisdiction, tax audit developments and resolution of other discrete tax 
matters, foreign currency fluctuation, availability of suitable real estate locations, our ability to manage our property portfolio, 
the impact of labor markets, our ability to retain qualified employees, failure to achieve anticipated expense and cost reductions 
from operational and restructuring changes, disruptions in our supply chain, the costs of procuring goods we sell, failure to 
achieve anticipated revenue and profitability increases from operational and restructuring changes (including investments in our 
multi-channel capabilities and brand consolidations), failure to accurately predict the duration over which we will incur costs, 
acquisitions and development of new businesses, divestitures of existing businesses, failure to complete or achieve anticipated 
benefits of announced transactions, integration challenges relating to new ventures, and our ability to protect information 
relating to our employees and customers. We caution that the foregoing list of important factors is not complete, and any 
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forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we assume no obligation to update any forward-
looking statement that we may make.

Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 
In addition to the risks inherent in our operations, we are exposed to certain market risks, including adverse changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates.
 
We have market risk arising from changes in foreign currency exchange rates related to our International segment operations. 
On a limited basis, we utilize foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign currency exposure to certain forecast 
inventory purchases, recognized receivable and payable balances and our investment in our Canadian operations. Our primary 
objective in holding derivatives is to reduce the volatility of net earnings and cash flows, as well as net asset value associated 
with changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Our foreign currency risk management strategy includes both hedging 
instruments and derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments, which generally have terms of up to 12 months. The 
aggregate notional amount related to our foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding at August 1, 2015 was $370 million. 
The fair value recorded on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at August 1, 2015, related to our foreign exchange 
forward contracts was $21 million. The amount recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings from continuing 
operations related to all contracts settled and outstanding was a gain of $1 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2016.

The strength of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian dollar and Mexican peso compared to the prior-year period had a 
negative overall impact on our revenue as these foreign currencies translated into fewer U.S. dollars. We estimate that foreign 
currency exchange rate fluctuations had a negative impact on our revenue of approximately $101 million and a positive impact 
on our net earnings of $1 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2016.

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures
 
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in 
the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, 
including our Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer), to 
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. We have established a Disclosure Committee, consisting of certain 
members of management, to assist in this evaluation. The Disclosure Committee meets on a regular quarterly basis, and 
otherwise as needed.
 
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act), at 
August 1, 2015. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, at August 1, 
2015, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
 
There was no change in internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended August 1, 2015, that has 
materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings
 
For a description of our legal proceedings, see Note 13, Contingencies, of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

(c) Stock Repurchases

The following table presents the total number of shares of our common stock that we purchased during the second quarter of 
fiscal 2016, the average price paid per share, the number of shares that we purchased as part of our publicly announced 
repurchase program and the approximate dollar value of shares that still could have been repurchased at the end of the 
applicable fiscal period, pursuant to our June 2011 $5.0 billion share repurchase program:

Fiscal Period
Total Number of

Shares Purchased
Average Price Paid

per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Program

Approximate Dollar 
Value of Shares that 

May Yet Be Purchased 
Under the Program(1)

May 3, 2015 through May 30, 2015 1,227,550 $ 35.20 1,227,550 $ 3,946,000,000
May 31, 2015 through July 4, 2015 5,053,664 $ 34.07 5,053,664 $ 3,773,000,000
July 5, 2015 through August 1, 2015 3,233,494 $ 33.47 3,233,494 $ 3,665,000,000
Total Fiscal 2016 Second Quarter 9,514,708 $ 34.02 9,514,708

(1)  We have a $5.0 billion share repurchase program that was authorized by our board in June 2011. At the beginning of the second quarter of fiscal 2016, 
there was $4.0 billion available for share repurchases. The "Approximate Dollar Amount of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Program" reflects the 
$324 million we purchased in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 pursuant to such program. There is no expiration date governing the period over which we can 
repurchase shares under the June 2011 share repurchase program. For additional information see Note 10, Repurchase of Common Stock, of the Notes to 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 
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Item 6.  Exhibits

Any agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other 
disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and should not be relied upon 
for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by the registrant in these agreements or other 
documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual 
state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time.

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statement filed by
Best Buy Co., Inc. on May 12, 2009)

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-
K filed by Best Buy Co., Inc. on September 26, 2013)

10.1 Form of Best Buy Co., Inc. Long-Term Incentive Program Award Agreement for Directors (2015)

10.2 Form of Best Buy Co., Inc. Long-Term Incentive Program Award Agreement for Non-U.S. Directors (2015)

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002(1)

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002(1)

101 The following financial information from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal
2016, filed with the SEC on September 4, 2015, formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL):
(i) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at August 1, 2015, January 31, 2015, and August 2, 2014, (ii) the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the three and six months ended August 1, 2015 and August 2, 2014,
(iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six months ended August 1, 2015 and
August 2, 2014, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended August 1, 2015 and
August 2, 2014, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the six months ended
August 1 , 2015 and August 2, 2014, and (vi) the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

___________________________________
(1) The certifications in Exhibit 32.1 and Exhibit 32.2 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q shall not be deemed “filed” for 

purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to liability of that section 
and shall not be incorporated by reference into any filing or other document pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing or document.

Pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant has not filed as 
exhibits to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q certain instruments with respect to long-term debt under which the amount of 
securities authorized does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the registrant. The registrant hereby agrees to furnish copies of 
all such instruments to the SEC upon request. 
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 
  BEST BUY CO., INC.
  (Registrant)
     
Date: September 4, 2015 By: /s/ HUBERT JOLY
    Hubert Joly
    Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
    (duly authorized and principal executive officer)
     
Date: September 4, 2015 By: /s/ SHARON L. McCOLLAM
    Sharon L. McCollam
    Chief Administrative Officer and Chief Financial Officer
    (duly authorized and principal financial officer)

Date: September 4, 2015 By: /s/ MATHEW R. WATSON
Mathew R. Watson
Vice President, Finance – Controller and Chief
Accounting Officer
(duly authorized and principal accounting officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

BEST BUY CO., INC.
LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM AWARD AGREEMENT

Award Date:

This Long-Term Incentive Program Agreement (the “Agreement”), dated the date set forth above (the 
“Award Date”), is between Best Buy Co., Inc., a Minnesota corporation, (“Best Buy” or the “Company”), and the 
individual (“you” or the “Participant”) whose name is set forth in the Award Notification letter accompanying this 
Agreement (the “Award Notification”).  The Award Notification is included in and made a part of this Agreement.

1. Grant of Award.  In consideration of your service on the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”), the 
Company hereby grants to you the award set forth in the Award Notification (the “Award”) subject to the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement and the Best Buy Co., Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).  In the 
event of any conflict between this Agreement and the Plan, the Plan will govern.  By your acceptance of this 
Award, you acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Prospectus for the Plan and your agreement to the terms and 
conditions of the Plan and this Agreement.

2. Restricted Stock Units.  A “Restricted Stock Unit” is a right to receive a share of the Company’s common 
stock (“Share”) upon the lapse of the restrictions set forth in this Agreement.

(a) Restrictions.  During the time you serve on the Board (the “Holding Period”), the Restricted Stock Units 
are subject to the restrictions described in this Agreement and the Plan (the “Restrictions”). During the 
Holding Period, the Restricted Stock Units may not be assigned, transferred (other than by will or the laws 
of descent and distribution), pledged or hypothecated (whether by operation of law or otherwise) or 
otherwise conveyed or encumbered, and shall not be subject to execution, attachment or similar process. 
Any attempted assignment, transfer, pledge, hypothecation or other disposition contrary to the provisions 
this Agreement or the Plan, or the levy of any execution, attachment or similar process upon the Restricted 
Stock Units, shall be void and unenforceable against the Company.  The Restricted Stock Units are subject 
to forfeiture to Best Buy as provided in this Agreement and the Plan.

(b) Vesting.  Except as otherwise set forth herein, so long as your service on the Board continues, the 
Restricted Stock Units shall vest in accordance with the schedule stated in the Award Notification.  If your 
service on the Board is terminated prior to the date your Restricted Stock Units have vested for any reason 
other than Cause, a pro rata portion (based on your length of service during the vesting period) of the 
Restricted Stock Units will vest as of such termination date.  If your service on the Board is terminated 
prior to the Vesting Date for Cause, all Restricted Stock Units will be forfeited as of the date of 
termination.

(c) Issuance of Shares; Holding Period.  Within 30 days after the end of the Holding Period, the Shares 
underlying the Restricted Stock Units that have vested will be delivered to you

3. Restrictive Covenants and Remedies.  By accepting the Award, you specifically agree to the restrictive 
covenants contained in this Section 3 (the “Restrictive Covenants”) and you agree that the Restrictive 
Covenants and the remedies described herein are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate interests of 
the Company Group.

(a) Confidentiality.  In consideration of the Award, you acknowledge that the Company Group operates in a 
competitive environment and has a substantial interest in protecting its Confidential Information, and you 
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agree, during your service to the Company and thereafter, to maintain the confidentiality of the Company 
Group’s Confidential Information and to use such Confidential Information for the exclusive benefit of the 
Company Group.

(b) Non-Solicitation.  During the Holding Period and for one year following the termination of your service 
on the Board, you shall not:

(i) induce or attempt to induce any employee of the Company Group to leave the employ of Company 
Group, or in any way interfere adversely with the relationship between any such employee and 
Company Group;

(ii) induce or attempt to induce any employee of Company Group to work for, render services to, 
provide advice to, or supply Confidential Information of Company Group to any third Person;

(iii) employ, or otherwise pay for services rendered by, any employee of Company Group in any 
business enterprise with which you may be associated, connected or affiliated;

(iv) induce or attempt to induce any customer, supplier, licensee, licensor or other business relation of 
Company Group to cease doing business with Company Group, or in any way interfere with the 
then existing business relationship between any such customer, supplier, licensee, licensor or other 
business relation and Company Group; or

(v) assist, solicit, or encourage any other Person, directly or indirectly, in carrying out any activity set 
forth above that would be prohibited by any of the provisions of this Agreement if such activity 
were carried out by you.  In particular, you will not, directly or indirectly, induce any employee of 
Company Group to carry out any such activity.

(c) Partial Invalidity.  If any portion of this Section 3 is determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to 
be unenforceable in any respect, it shall be interpreted to be valid to the maximum extent for which it 
reasonably may be enforced, and enforced as so interpreted, all as determined by such court in such action.  
You acknowledge the uncertainty of the law in this respect and expressly stipulate that this Agreement is to 
be given the construction that renders its provisions valid and enforceable to the maximum extent (not 
exceeding its express terms) possible under applicable law.

(d) Remedy for Breach.  You agree that a breach of any of the Restrictive Covenants would cause material 
and irreparable harm to the Company Group that would be difficult or impossible to measure, and that 
monetary damages for any such harm would, therefore, be an inadequate remedy.  Accordingly, you agree 
that if you breach any Restrictive Covenant, the Company Group shall be entitled, in addition to and 
without limitation upon all other remedies the Company Group may have under this Agreement, at law or 
otherwise, to obtain injunctive or other appropriate equitable relief, without bond or other security, to 
restrain any such breach.  Such equitable relief in any court shall be available to the Company Group in 
lieu of, or prior to or pending determination in any arbitration proceeding.  You further agree that the 
duration of the Restrictive Covenant shall be extended by the same amount of time that you are in breach 
of any Restrictive Covenant.

(e) Claw Back & Recovery.  

(i) In the event (i) you breach any of the Restrictive Covenants, (ii) you engage in conduct materially 
adverse to the interests of the Company, including any material violations of any Company policy, 
(iii) you engage in intentional misconduct that caused or contributed to the restatement of any 
financial statements of the Company, (iv) you materially violate the terms of any agreement to which 
you and a member of the Company Group is a party or (v) you engage in a criminal act, fraud, or 
violation of any securities laws, then notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the 
contrary, the Company, in its sole discretion, may take one or more of the following actions with 
respect to your Award (and shall, in any event, take all action required by applicable law):

(A) cause the immediate forfeiture of any of your then unvested Restricted Stock Units;
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(B) require you to immediately return to the Company any Shares that were previously Restricted 
Stock Units that are still under your control; and 

(C) require you to promptly pay to the Company an amount equal to the fair market value of all 
Shares included in your Award that are no longer under your control (as measured on the date 
of issuance of any Shares issued under any Restricted Stock Units).

(ii) The Committee shall have sole discretion to determine what constitutes the conduct described in 
Section 3(e)(i) above.

(iii) In addition to the Company’s rights set forth above, you agree your Award and the value of any 
portion of your Award no longer under your control, shall be subject to recovery by the Company in 
accordance with and to the maximum extent required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. 

(f) Right of Set Off.  By accepting the Award, you agree that any member of the Company Group may set off 
any amount owed to you (including wages or other compensation, fringe benefits or vacation pay) against 
any amounts you owe under this Section 3.

4. General Terms and Conditions.

(a) Rights as a Stockholder.  You will have no rights as a shareholder with respect to any Shares issuable 
under the Restricted Stock Units until you have actually received such Shares in accordance with the terms 
of this Agreement and the Plan.  This means that you will not have the right to vote as a shareholder nor the 
right to receive dividend payments.  Upon issuance of Shares, you will have all of the rights of a 
shareholder with respect to the Shares unless Shares are forfeited or recovered under this Agreement or the 
Plan.

(b) Participant’s Acknowledgements.  

(i) Committee’s Sole Discretion.  The Committee has sole discretion to make decisions regarding your 
Award, and to interpret all terms of this Agreement.  You agree that all decisions regarding and 
interpretations of this Agreement by the Committee are binding, conclusive, final and non-appealable.

(ii) Taxes.  You are liable for any for any federal, state and other taxes incurred upon the lapse of a 
substantial risk of forfeiture (e.g., employment taxes) or upon delivery of Shares underlying the 
Restricted Stock Units (e.g., income taxes), and any subsequent disposition of any Shares (e.g., capital 
gain taxes).  You authorize the Company, or its agents, to satisfy its obligations with regard to all 
withholding by withholding from such Shares a number of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to 
the amount of all taxes required to be withheld by the Company (not to exceed the minimum rate 
required under applicable law).  In lieu of the foregoing, prior to any such vesting date, you may elect 
such other method to satisfy such obligations acceptable to the Company.

(iii) Consultation With Professional Tax Advisors.  You acknowledge that the grant, exercise, vesting or 
any payment with respect to the Award, and the sale or other taxable disposition of the Shares 
acquired as a result of the Award may have tax consequences under federal, state, local or 
international tax laws.  You further acknowledge that you are relying solely on your own professional 
tax and investment advisors with respect to any and all such matters (and are not relying, in any 
manner, on the Company or any of its employees or representatives).  You understand and agree that 
any and all tax consequences resulting from the Award and its grant, exercise, vesting or any payment 
with respect thereto, and the sale or other taxable disposition of the Shares acquired pursuant to the 
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Plan, are solely your responsibility without any expectation or understanding that the Company or any 
of its employees or representatives will pay or reimburse you for such taxes.

(a) Section 409A.  Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, this Agreement shall be interpreted so as 
to comply with or satisfy an exemption from Section 409A of the Code and the regulations and guidance 
promulgated thereunder (collectively, “Section 409A”). The Committee may in good faith make the 
minimum modifications to this Agreement as it may deem appropriate to comply with Section 409A while 
to the maximum extent reasonably possible maintaining the original intent and economic benefit to you 
and the Company Group of the applicable provision.

(i) To the extent required by Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i), to the extent that you are a specified employee, 
Shares (or cash equivalent value of Shares) underlying Restricted Stock Units and Performance 
Share Awards that become payable to you upon your separation from service will be delayed and 
paid promptly after the earlier of the date that is six (6) months after the date of such separation 
from service or the date of your death after such separation from service. For purposes hereof, (x) 
any reference to your termination of service under this Agreement shall mean your separation from 
service, (y) the occurrence of your “separation from service” will be determined in accordance with 
the default provisions of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h) and (z) whether you are a 
“specified employee” will be determined in accordance with the default provisions of Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(i) with the “identification date” to be December 31 and the “effective 
date” to be the April 1 following the identification date (as such terms are used under such 
regulation). Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, your service shall not be 
deemed to have been terminated unless and until you have incurred a “separation from service” 
within the meaning of Section 409A.

(ii) For purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii), your right to receive any 
installment payments under this Agreement shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate 
payments and, accordingly, each installment payment under this Agreement shall at all times be 
considered a separate and distinct payment. 

(a) Severability.  In the event that any provision in the Plan or this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable or would disqualify the Plan or this Agreement under any law, the invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable provision shall be construed or deemed amended to conform to applicable laws, or if it 
cannot be so construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the Committee, materially 
altering the purpose or intent of the Plan or this Agreement, such provision shall be stricken as to the 
applicable jurisdiction or Shares, and the remainder of the Plan or this Agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect.

(b) Governing Law, Jurisdiction and Venue.  The laws of Minnesota, without regard to the conflict of law 
provisions, shall apply to all questions concerning this Agreement.  You and the Company agree that the 
state and federal courts located in the State of Minnesota shall have personal jurisdiction over the parties to 
this Agreement, and that the sole venues to adjudicate any dispute arising under this Agreement shall be the 
District Courts of Hennepin County, State of Minnesota and the United States District Court for the 
District of Minnesota; and each party waives any argument that any other forum would be more convenient 
or proper. 

(c) Costs of Enforcement.  In addition to any other remedy to which any member of the Company Group is 
entitled under this Agreement, you agree that the Company Group shall be entitled to recover from you any 
costs, expenses (including reasonable legal fees) or disbursements reasonably incurred by the Company 
Group to enforce any provision of this Agreement, or to otherwise defend itself from any claim brought by 
you or any of your beneficiaries against any member of the Company Group under any provision of this 
Agreement.
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5. Definitions.  Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Agreement are defined in the Plan or, if not defined 
therein, will have the following meanings:

(a) “Cause” for termination of your service with the Company Group shall, solely for purposes of this 
Agreement, is deemed to exist if you:

(i) are charged with, convicted of or enter a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to: (a) a felony, (b) any 
crime involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, breach of trust or unethical business conduct, or (c) any 
crime involving the business of the Company Group;

(ii) in the performance of your duties for the Company Group or otherwise to the detriment of the 
Company Group, engage in: (a) dishonesty that is harmful to the Company Group, monetarily or 
otherwise, (b) willful or gross misconduct, (c) willful or gross neglect, (d) fraud, (e) misappropriation, 
(f) embezzlement, or (g) theft;

(iii) disobey the directions of the Board, or any individual or individuals the Board authorizes to act on its 
or their behalf, acting within the scope of its or their authority;

(iv) fail to comply with the policies or practices of the Company Group;

(v) are adjudicated in any civil suit, or acknowledge in writing in any agreement or stipulation, to have 
committed any theft, embezzlement, fraud, or other act of dishonesty involving any other Person;

(vi) are determined, in the sole judgment of the Board or any individual or individuals the Board 
authorizes to act on its or their behalf, to have engaged in a pattern of poor performance;

(vii) are determined, in the sole judgment of the Board or any individual or individuals the Board 
authorizes to act on its or their behalf, to have willfully engaged in conduct that is harmful to the 
Company Group, monetarily or otherwise;

(viii) breach any provision of this Agreement or any other agreement between you and any member of the 
Company Group; or

(ix) engage in any activity intended to benefit any entity at the expense of the Company Group or intended 
to benefit any competitor of the Company Group.

All determinations and other decisions relating to Cause (as defined above) for termination of your 
service shall be within the sole discretion of the Board or any individual or individuals the Board authorizes 
to act on its behalf; and shall be final, conclusive and binding upon you.  In the event that there exists Cause 
(as defined above), the Company may terminate this Agreement immediately, upon written notification of 
such termination for Cause, given to you by the Board or any individual or individuals the Board authorizes 
to act on its behalf. 

(b) “Company Group” means, collectively, Best Buy Co., Inc. and its subsidiaries.

(c) “Committee” means the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors of 
Best Buy Co., Inc.

(d) “Confidential Information” means all “Confidential Information” as that term is defined in Best Buy’s 
Confidentiality Policy, and includes, without limitation, any and all information in whatever form, whether 
written, electronically stored, orally transmitted or memorized relating to trade secrets, customer lists, 
records and other information regarding customers, price lists and pricing policies, financial information, 
records, ledgers and information, purchase orders, agreements and related data, business development and 
strategic plans, products and technologies, product tests, manufacturing costs, product or service pricing, 
sales and marketing plans, research and development plans, personnel and employment records, files, data 
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and policies (regardless of whether the information pertains to you or  employees of the Company Group), 
tax information, business and sales methods and operations, business correspondence, memoranda and 
other records, inventions, improvements and discoveries, processes and methods, business operations and 
related data formulae, computer records and related data, know-how, research and development, trademark, 
technology, technical information, copyrighted material, and any other confidential or proprietary data and 
information which you encounter during your service, all of which are held, possessed and/or owned by the 
Company Group and all of which are used in the operations and business of the Company Group.  
Confidential Information does not include information which is or becomes generally known within the 
Company Group’s industry through no act or omission by you. 
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Exhibit 10.2

BEST BUY CO., INC.
LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM AWARD AGREEMENT

FOR NON-U.S. DIRECTORS
Award Date: 

This Long-Term Incentive Program Agreement (the “Agreement”), dated the date set forth above (the 
“Award Date”), is between Best Buy Co., Inc., a Minnesota corporation, (“Best Buy” or the “Company”), and the 
individual (“you” or the “Participant”) whose name is set forth in the Award Notification letter accompanying this 
Agreement (the “Award Notification”).  The Award Notification is included in and made a part of this Agreement.

1. Grant of Award.  In consideration of your service on the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”), the 
Company hereby grants to you the award set forth in the Award Notification (the “Award”) subject to the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement and the Best Buy Co., Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).  In the 
event of any conflict between this Agreement and the Plan, the Plan will govern.  By your acceptance of this 
Award, you acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Prospectus for the Plan and your agreement to the terms and 
conditions of the Plan and this Agreement.

2. Restricted Stock Units.  A “Restricted Stock Unit” is a right to receive a share of the Company’s common 
stock (“Share”) upon the lapse of the restrictions set forth in this Agreement.

(a) Restrictions.  During the time you serve on the Board (the “Holding Period”), the Restricted Stock Units 
are subject to the restrictions described in this Agreement and the Plan (the “Restrictions”). During the 
Holding Period, the Restricted Stock Units may not be assigned, transferred (other than by will or the laws 
of descent and distribution), pledged or hypothecated (whether by operation of law or otherwise) or 
otherwise conveyed or encumbered, and shall not be subject to execution, attachment or similar process. 
Any attempted assignment, transfer, pledge, hypothecation or other disposition contrary to the provisions 
this Agreement or the Plan, or the levy of any execution, attachment or similar process upon the Restricted 
Stock Units, shall be void and unenforceable against the Company.  The Restricted Stock Units are subject 
to forfeiture to Best Buy as provided in this Agreement and the Plan.

(b) Vesting.  Except as otherwise set forth herein, so long as your service on the Board continues, the 
Restricted Stock Units shall vest in accordance with the schedule stated in the Award Notification.  If your 
service on the Board is terminated prior to the date your Restricted Stock Units have vested for any reason 
other than Cause, a pro rata portion (based on your length of service during the vesting period) of the 
Restricted Stock Units will vest as of such termination date.  If your service on the Board is terminated 
prior to the Vesting Date for Cause, all Restricted Stock Units will be forfeited as of the date of 
termination.

(c) Issuance of Shares; Holding Period.  Within 30 days after the end of the Holding Period, the Shares 
underlying the Restricted Stock Units that have vested will be delivered to you

3. Restrictive Covenants and Remedies.  By accepting the Award, you specifically agree to the restrictive 
covenants contained in this Section 3 (the “Restrictive Covenants”) and you agree that the Restrictive 
Covenants and the remedies described herein are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate interests of 
the Company Group.
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(a) Confidentiality.  In consideration of the Award, you acknowledge that the Company Group operates in a 
competitive environment and has a substantial interest in protecting its Confidential Information, and you 
agree, during your service to the Company and thereafter, to maintain the confidentiality of the Company 
Group’s Confidential Information and to use such Confidential Information for the exclusive benefit of the 
Company Group.

(b) Non-Solicitation.  During the Holding Period and for one year following the termination of your service 
on the Board, you shall not:

(i) induce or attempt to induce any employee of the Company Group to leave the employ of Company 
Group, or in any way interfere adversely with the relationship between any such employee and 
Company Group;

(ii) induce or attempt to induce any employee of Company Group to work for, render services to, 
provide advice to, or supply Confidential Information of Company Group to any third Person;

(iii) employ, or otherwise pay for services rendered by, any employee of Company Group in any 
business enterprise with which you may be associated, connected or affiliated;

(iv) induce or attempt to induce any customer, supplier, licensee, licensor or other business relation of 
Company Group to cease doing business with Company Group, or in any way interfere with the 
then existing business relationship between any such customer, supplier, licensee, licensor or other 
business relation and Company Group; or

(v) assist, solicit, or encourage any other Person, directly or indirectly, in carrying out any activity set 
forth above that would be prohibited by any of the provisions of this Agreement if such activity 
were carried out by you.  In particular, you will not, directly or indirectly, induce any employee of 
Company Group to carry out any such activity.

(c) Partial Invalidity.  If any portion of this Section 3 is determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to 
be unenforceable in any respect, it shall be interpreted to be valid to the maximum extent for which it 
reasonably may be enforced, and enforced as so interpreted, all as determined by such court in such action.  
You acknowledge the uncertainty of the law in this respect and expressly stipulate that this Agreement is to 
be given the construction that renders its provisions valid and enforceable to the maximum extent (not 
exceeding its express terms) possible under applicable law.

(d) Remedy for Breach.  You agree that a breach of any of the Restrictive Covenants would cause material 
and irreparable harm to the Company Group that would be difficult or impossible to measure, and that 
monetary damages for any such harm would, therefore, be an inadequate remedy.  Accordingly, you agree 
that if you breach any Restrictive Covenant, the Company Group shall be entitled, in addition to and 
without limitation upon all other remedies the Company Group may have under this Agreement, at law or 
otherwise, to obtain injunctive or other appropriate equitable relief, without bond or other security, to 
restrain any such breach.  Such equitable relief in any court shall be available to the Company Group in 
lieu of, or prior to or pending determination in any arbitration proceeding.  You further agree that the 
duration of the Restrictive Covenant shall be extended by the same amount of time that you are in breach 
of any Restrictive Covenant.

(e) Claw Back & Recovery.  

(i) In the event (i) you breach any of the Restrictive Covenants, (ii) you engage in conduct materially 
adverse to the interests of the Company, including any material violations of any Company policy, 
(iii) you engage in intentional misconduct that caused or contributed to the restatement of any 
financial statements of the Company, (iv) you materially violate the terms of any agreement to which 
you and a member of the Company Group is a party or (v) you engage in a criminal act, fraud, or 
violation of any securities laws, then notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the 
contrary, the Company, in its sole discretion, may take one or more of the following actions with 
respect to your Award (and shall, in any event, take all action required by applicable law):
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(A) cause the immediate forfeiture of any of your then unvested Restricted Stock Units;

(B) require you to immediately return to the Company any Shares that were previously Restricted 
Stock Units that are still under your control; and 

(C) require you to promptly pay to the Company an amount equal to the fair market value of all 
Shares included in your Award that are no longer under your control (as measured on the date 
of issuance of any Shares issued under any Restricted Stock Units).

(ii) The Committee shall have sole discretion to determine what constitutes the conduct described in 
Section 3(e)(i) above.

(iii) In addition to the Company’s rights set forth above, you agree your Award and the value of any 
portion of your Award no longer under your control, shall be subject to recovery by the Company in 
accordance with and to the maximum extent required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the 
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. 

(f) Right of Set Off.  By accepting the Award, you agree that any member of the Company Group may set off 
any amount owed to you (including fees or other compensation, fringe benefits or vacation pay) against 
any amounts you owe under this Section 3. You also agree that if the Company does not recover by means 
of set-off the full amount you owe, calculated as set forth above, you agree to immediately pay the unpaid 
balance to the Company.

4. General Terms and Conditions.

(a) Rights as a Stockholder.  You will have no rights as a shareholder with respect to any Shares issuable 
under the Restricted Stock Units until you have actually received such Shares in accordance with the terms 
of this Agreement and the Plan.  This means that you will not have the right to vote as a shareholder nor the 
right to receive dividend payments.  Upon issuance of Shares, you will have all of the rights of a 
shareholder with respect to the Shares unless Shares are forfeited or recovered under this Agreement or the 
Plan.

(b) Nature of Grant.  In accepting the Award, you acknowledge, understand and agree that:

(i) the Plan is established voluntarily by Best Buy, it is discretionary in nature and it may be modified, 
amended, suspended or terminated by Best Buy at any time; 

(ii) the grant of the Units is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right 
to receive future grants of restricted stock units, or benefits in lieu of restricted stock units, even if 
restricted stock units have been granted in the past; 

(iii) all decisions with respect to future grants of restricted stock units, if any, will be at the sole 
discretion of Best Buy; 

(iv) you are voluntarily participating in the Plan; 
(v) the Award and your participation in the Plan will not create a right to continued service on the 

Board or derogate from any right of Best Buy’s shareholders to remove you from the Board at any 
time in accordance with Best Buy’s bylaws and any applicable law;

(vi)  the future value of the underlying Shares is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted with 
certainty; 

(vii) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Units 
resulting from your ceasing to provide service to Best Buy (for any reason whatsoever) and, in 
consideration of the grant of Units to which you are otherwise not entitled, you irrevocably agree 
never to institute any claim against Best Buy, waive your ability, if any, to bring any such claim and 
release Best Buy from any such claim; if, notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim is allowed 
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by a court of competent jurisdiction, then, by participating in the Plan, you shall be deemed 
irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim and agree to execute any and all documents 
necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of such claims; 

(viii) unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by Best Buy in its discretion, the Award and the benefits 
evidenced by this Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Award or any such benefits 
transferred to, or assumed by, another company nor to be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, 
in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Shares; 

(ix) and Best Buy shall not be liable for any foreign exchange rate fluctuation between your local 
currency and the United States Dollar that may affect the value of the Units or any amounts due to 
you pursuant to the settlement of the Units or the subsequent sale of any Shares acquired upon 
settlement.

(c) Participant’s Acknowledgements.  

(i) Committee’s Sole Discretion.  The Committee has sole discretion to make decisions regarding your 
Award, and to interpret all terms of this Agreement.  You agree that all decisions regarding and 
interpretations of this Agreement by the Committee are binding, conclusive, final and non-appealable.

(ii) Taxes.  

(A) Regardless of any action the Company takes with respect to any or all income tax, social 
insurance, payroll tax, payment on account or other tax-related items related to your 
participation in the Plan (“Tax-Related Items”), you acknowledge that the ultimate liability for 
all Tax-Related Items is and remains your responsibility and may exceed the amount, if any, 
actually withheld by the Company.  You further acknowledge that the Company (a) makes no 
representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection 
with any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units, including, but not limited to, the grant or vesting 
of the Restricted Stock Units, the issuance of Shares upon settlement of the Units, the 
subsequent sale of such Shares and the receipt of any dividends or dividend equivalents; and 
(b) does not commit to and is under no obligation to structure the terms of the Award or any 
aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate your liability for Tax-Related Items 
or achieve any particular tax result.  Further, if you have become subject to Tax-Related Items 
in more than one jurisdiction between the Award Date and the date of any relevant taxable 
event, as applicable, you acknowledge that the Company may be required to withhold or 
account for Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction. 

(B) To the extent the Company has a withholding obligation with respect to Tax-Related Items, you 
authorize the Company or its agent, at the Company’s discretion, to satisfy the obligations with 
regard to all Tax-Related Items by one or a combination of the following:  

(1) withholding from any cash compensation paid to you by the Company; 

(2) withholding from proceeds of the sale of Shares acquired upon settlement of the 
Restricted Stock Units either through a voluntary sale or through a mandatory sale 
arranged by the Company (on your behalf pursuant to this authorization); or

(3) withholding in Shares to be issued upon settlement of the Restricted Stock Units.  

The Committee shall establish the method of withholding from alternatives (1) - (3) above and, 
if the Committee does not exercise its discretion prior to the applicable withholding event, then 
you shall be entitled to elect the method of withholding from the alternatives above.  
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In the event there is a relevant taxable event for which the Company does not withhold 
amounts needed to satisfy obligations with respect to Tax-Related Items, you agree to pay or 
make adequate arrangements satisfactory to the Company to satisfy such obligations.  

(C) To avoid negative accounting treatment, the Company may withhold or account for Tax-
Related Items by considering applicable minimum statutory withholding amounts or other 
applicable withholding rates.  If the obligation for Tax-Related Items is satisfied by withholding 
in Shares, for tax purposes, you are deemed to have been issued the full number of Shares 
subject to the vested Restricted Stock Units, notwithstanding that a number of the Shares are 
held back solely for the purpose of paying the Tax-Related Items due as a result of any aspect 
of your participation in the Plan. 

(D) You shall pay to the Company any amount of Tax-Related Items that the Company may be 
required to withhold or account for as a result of your participation in the Plan that cannot be 
satisfied by the means described in this Section 4(c)(iii).  The Company may refuse to issue or 
deliver the Shares or the proceeds of the sale of Shares if you fail to comply with your 
obligations in connection with the Tax-Related Items.

(E) You further acknowledge that you are relying solely on your own professional tax and 
investment advisors with respect to any and all such matters (and are not relying, in any 
manner, on the Company or any of its employees or representatives).  

(a) Severability.  In the event that any provision in the Plan or this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable or would disqualify the Plan or this Agreement under any law, the invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable provision shall be construed or deemed amended to conform to applicable laws, or if it 
cannot be so construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the Committee, materially 
altering the purpose or intent of the Plan or this Agreement, such provision shall be stricken as to the 
applicable jurisdiction or Shares, and the remainder of the Plan or this Agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect.

(b) Governing Law, Jurisdiction and Venue.  The laws of Minnesota, without regard to the conflict of law 
provisions, shall apply to all questions concerning this Agreement.  You and the Company agree that the 
state and federal courts located in the State of Minnesota shall have personal jurisdiction over the parties to 
this Agreement, and that the sole venues to adjudicate any dispute arising under this Agreement shall be the 
District Courts of Hennepin County, State of Minnesota and the United States District Court for the 
District of Minnesota; and each party waives any argument that any other forum would be more convenient 
or proper. 

(c) Costs of Enforcement.  In addition to any other remedy to which any member of the Company Group is 
entitled under this Agreement, you agree that the Company Group shall be entitled to recover from you any 
costs, expenses (including reasonable legal fees) or disbursements reasonably incurred by the Company 
Group to enforce any provision of this Agreement, or to otherwise defend itself from any claim brought by 
you or any of your beneficiaries against any member of the Company Group under any provision of this 
Agreement.

(d) Appendix. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Agreement, the grant of Units shall be subject to any 
special terms and conditions set forth in the attached country-specific appendix to this Agreement (the 
“Appendix”).  If you relocate to one of the countries included in the Appendix, the special terms and 
conditions for such country will apply to you, to the extent the Company determines that the application of 
such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable in order to comply with local law or facilitate the 
administration of the Plan.  The Appendix constitutes part of this Agreement.
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(e) Imposition of Other Requirements.  The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on 
your participation in the Plan, on the Units and on any Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the 
Company determines it is necessary or advisable in order to comply with local law or facilitate the 
administration of the Plan, and to require you to sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may 
be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.

(f) Compliance with Law.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, unless there is 
an available exemption from any registration, qualification or other legal requirement applicable to the 
Shares, the Company shall not be required to deliver any Shares issuable upon settlement of the Units prior 
to the completion of any registration or qualification of the Shares under any local, state, federal or foreign 
securities or exchange control law or under rulings or regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) or of any other governmental regulatory body, or prior to obtaining any approval or 
other clearance from any local, state, federal or foreign governmental agency, which registration, 
qualification or approval the Company shall, in its absolute discretion, deem necessary or advisable.  You 
understand that the Company is under no obligation to register or qualify the Shares with the SEC or any 
state or foreign securities commission or to seek approval or clearance from any governmental authority 
for the issuance or sale of the Shares.  Further, you agree that Best Buy shall have unilateral authority to 
amend the Plan and the Agreement without your consent to the extent necessary to comply with securities 
or other laws applicable to issuance of the Shares.  

(g) Insider Trading Restrictions/Market Abuse Laws.  You acknowledge that, depending on your country, 
you may be subject to insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse laws, which may affect your ability 
to acquire or sell Shares or rights to Shares under the Plan during such times as you are considered to have 
“inside information” regarding Best Buy (as defined by applicable laws in your country).  Any restrictions 
under these laws or regulations are separate from and in addition to any restrictions that may be imposed 
under any applicable Best Buy insider trading policy.  You acknowledge that it is your responsibility to 
comply with any applicable restrictions, and you are advised to speak to your personal advisor on this 
matter.

(h) Waiver. You acknowledge that a waiver by Best Buy of breach of any provision of this Agreement shall 
not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent 
breach by you or any other award recipient.

(i) Data Privacy.  You hereby explicitly and unambiguously consent to the collection, use and transfer, in 
electronic or other form, of your personal data as described in this Agreement and any other award 
materials by Best Buy for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing your 
participation in the Plan.

You understand that Best Buy may hold certain personal information about you, including, but not limited 
to, your name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other 
identification number, salary, nationality, job title, any Shares or directorships held in Best Buy, details of 
all Units or any other entitlement to shares of stock awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or 
outstanding in your favor (“Data”), for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and 
managing the Plan.  

You understand that Data will be transferred to Fidelity or such other stock plan service provider as may be 
selected by Best Buy in the future, which is assisting Best Buy with the implementation, administration and 
management of the Plan.  You understand that the recipients of the Data may be located in the United States 
or elsewhere, and that the recipients’ country (e.g., the United States) may have different data privacy laws 
and protections than your country.  You understand that you may request a list with the names and addresses 
of any potential recipients of the Data by contacting the Best Buy Legal Department.  You authorize Best 
Buy, Fidelity (or other broker designated by Best Buy) and any other possible recipients which may assist 
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Best Buy (presently or in the future) with implementing, administering and managing the Plan to receive, 
possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the sole purpose of implementing, 
administering and managing your participation in the Plan.  You understand that Data will be held only as 
long as is necessary to implement, administer and manage your participation in the Plan.  You understand 
that you may, at any time, view Data, request additional information about the storage and processing of 
Data, require any necessary amendments to Data or refuse or withdraw the consents herein, in any case 
without cost, by contacting in writing the Best Buy Legal Department, 7601 Penn Avenue South, Richfield, 
MN 55423.  You understand, however, that refusing or withdrawing your consent may affect your ability to 
participate in the Plan.  For more information on the consequences of your refusal to consent or withdrawal 
of consent, you understand that you may contact the Best Buy Legal Department.

(j) Electronic Delivery and Participation.  Best Buy may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any 
documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means.  You hereby consent to 
receive such documents by electronic delivery and agree to participate in the Plan through an on-line or 
electronic system established and maintained by Best Buy or a third party designated by Best Buy.  
Further, the parties hereto shall be entitled to rely on delivery of a facsimile or other electronic copy of this 
Agreement, and delivery by either party of such facsimile or electronic copy shall be legally effective to 
create a valid and binding agreement between the parties in accordance with the terms hereof.

5. Definitions.  Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Agreement are defined in the Plan or, if not defined 
therein, will have the following meanings:

(a) “Cause” for termination of your service with the Company Group shall, solely for purposes of this 
Agreement, is deemed to exist if you:

(i) are charged with, convicted of or enter a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to: (a) a felony (or a crime 
of comparable magnitude under applicable law), (b) any crime involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, 
breach of trust or unethical business conduct, or (c) any crime involving the business of the Company 
Group;

(ii) in the performance of your duties for the Company Group or otherwise to the detriment of the 
Company Group, engage in: (a) dishonesty that is harmful to the Company Group, monetarily or 
otherwise, (b) willful or gross misconduct, (c) willful or gross neglect, (d) fraud, (e) misappropriation, 
(f) embezzlement, or (g) theft;

(iii) disobey the directions of the Board, or any individual or individuals the Board authorizes to act on its 
or their behalf, acting within the scope of its or their authority;

(iv) fail to comply with the policies or practices of the Company Group;

(v) are adjudicated in any civil suit, or acknowledge in writing in any agreement or stipulation, to have 
committed any theft, embezzlement, fraud, or other act of dishonesty involving any other Person;

(vi) are determined, in the sole judgment of the Board or any individual or individuals the Board 
authorizes to act on its or their behalf, to have engaged in a pattern of poor performance;

(vii) are determined, in the sole judgment of the Board or any individual or individuals the Board 
authorizes to act on its or their behalf, to have willfully engaged in conduct that is harmful to the 
Company Group, monetarily or otherwise;

(viii) breach any provision of this Agreement or any other agreement between you and any member of the 
Company Group; or
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(ix) engage in any activity intended to benefit any entity at the expense of the Company Group or intended 
to benefit any competitor of the Company Group.

All determinations and other decisions relating to Cause (as defined above) for termination of your 
service shall be within the sole discretion of the Board or any individual or individuals the Board authorizes 
to act on its behalf; and shall be final, conclusive and binding upon you.  In the event that there exists Cause 
(as defined above), the Company may terminate this Agreement immediately, upon written notification of 
such termination for Cause, given to you by the Board or any individual or individuals the Board authorizes 
to act on its behalf. 

(b) “Company Group” means, collectively, Best Buy Co., Inc. and its subsidiaries.

(c) “Committee” means the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors of 
Best Buy Co., Inc.

(d) “Confidential Information” means all “Confidential Information” as that term is defined in Best Buy’s 
Confidentiality Policy, and includes, without limitation, any and all information in whatever form, whether 
written, electronically stored, orally transmitted or memorized relating to trade secrets, customer lists, 
records and other information regarding customers, price lists and pricing policies, financial information, 
records, ledgers and information, purchase orders, agreements and related data, business development and 
strategic plans, products and technologies, product tests, manufacturing costs, product or service pricing, 
sales and marketing plans, research and development plans, personnel and employment records, files, data 
and policies (regardless of whether the information pertains to you or  employees of the Company Group), 
tax information, business and sales methods and operations, business correspondence, memoranda and 
other records, inventions, improvements and discoveries, processes and methods, business operations and 
related data formulae, computer records and related data, know-how, research and development, trademark, 
technology, technical information, copyrighted material, and any other confidential or proprietary data and 
information which you encounter during your service, all of which are held, possessed and/or owned by the 
Company Group and all of which are used in the operations and business of the Company Group.  
Confidential Information does not include information which is or becomes generally known within the 
Company Group’s industry through no act or omission by you. 
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COUNTRY-SPECIFIC APPENDIX
TO

DIRECTOR RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
FOR NON-U.S. DIRECTORS

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This Appendix includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Restricted Stock Units granted to you under 
the Plan if you reside in one of the countries listed below at the time of award or move to one of these countries 
during the term of the Award.  Capitalized terms not defined in this Appendix are defined in Section 5 of the 
Agreement.

If you are a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which you are currently residing and/or working, 
transfer residency after the Units were granted to you, or are considered a resident of another country for local law 
purposes, the terms and conditions contained herein may not be applicable to you, and Best Buy shall, in its 
discretion, determine to what extent the terms and conditions contained herein shall apply to your Restricted Stock 
Units.

NOTIFICATIONS

This Appendix also includes information regarding exchange controls and certain other issues of which you should 
be aware with respect to participation in the Plan.  The information is based on the securities, exchange control, and 
other laws in effect in the respective countries as of June 2015.  Such laws are often complex and change frequently.  
As a result, it is strongly recommended that you not rely on the information in this Appendix as the only source of 
information relating to the consequences of your participation in the Plan because the information may be out of 
date at the time you vest in the Restricted Stock Units.  This Appendix does not address any general reporting 
requirements that may apply to you with respect to currency transfers into your country of residence (unless there 
are reporting requirements that apply specifically to the Shares that may be acquired under the Plan).  

In addition, the information contained herein is general in nature and may not apply to your particular situation, and 
Best Buy is not in a position to assure you of a particular result.  Accordingly, you are advised to seek appropriate 
professional advice as to how the relevant laws in your country may apply to your situation.

UNITED KINGDOM

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Vesting; Holding Period. This provision supplements Section 2(c) of the Agreement:

Notwithstanding any discretion in the Plan, Restricted Stock Units are payable in Shares only, and shall not be paid 
in cash.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Hubert Joly, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Best Buy Co., Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 4, 2015 /s/ HUBERT JOLY
Hubert Joly
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sharon L. McCollam, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Best Buy Co., Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 4, 2015 /s/ SHARON L. McCOLLAM
Sharon L. McCollam
Chief Administrative Officer and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 (adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), I, the undersigned President and 
Chief Executive Officer of Best Buy Co., Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the 
Company for the quarterly period ended August 1, 2015 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) 
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by 
the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: September 4, 2015 /s/ HUBERT JOLY
Hubert Joly
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 (adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), I, the undersigned Chief 
Administrative Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Best Buy Co., Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify that the Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended August 1, 2015 (the “Report”), fully complies with the 
requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in 
the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by 
the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: September 4, 2015 /s/ SHARON L. McCOLLAM
Sharon L. McCollam
Chief Administrative Officer and Chief Financial Officer


	Cover
	Table of Contents
	Part I - Financial Information
	Item 1. Financial Statements
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
	Consolidated Statements of Earnings
	Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
	1. Basis of Presentation
	2. Discontinued Operations
	3. Fair Value Measurements
	4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
	5. Restructuring Charges
	6. Debt
	7. Derivative Instruments
	8. Earnings per Share
	9. Comprehensive Income
	10. Repurchase of Common Stock
	11. Income Taxes
	12. Segments
	13. Contingencies


	Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Overview
	Business Strategy Update
	Results of Operations
	Liquidity and Capital Resources
	Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations
	Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates
	New Accounting Pronouncements
	Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act

	Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
	Item 4. Controls and Procedures

	Part II - Other Information
	Item 1. Legal Proceedings
	Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
	Item 6. Exhibits

	Signatures
	Exhibit 10.1
	Exhibit 10.2
	Exhibit 31.1
	Exhibit 31.2
	Exhibit 32.1
	Exhibit 32.2

